

# 2018 Survey of College and University Admissions Directors

A STUDY BY INSIDE HIGHER ED AND GALLUP

SCOTT JASCHIK & DOUG LEDERMAN EDITORS, INSIDE HIGHER ED







# THE 2018 INSIDE HIGHER ED SURVEY OF COLLEGE AND UNIVERSITY ADMISSIONS DIRECTORS

A study by Gallup and Inside Higher Ed



### Inside Higher Ed

1150 Connecticut Avenue NW, Suite 400 Washington, DC 20036 t 202.659.9208



### Gallup

901 F Street, NW Washington, DC 20004 t 202.715.3030

### **COPYRIGHT**

This document contains proprietary research, copyrighted materials, and literary property of Gallup, Inc. No changes may be made to this document without the express written permission of Gallup, Inc. Gallup® and Gallup University® are trademarks of Gallup, Inc. All other trademarks are property of their respective owners.



# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

| Foreword  | 5  |
|---|----|
| Snapshot of Findings  | 7  |
| Methodology   | 9  |
| Detailed Findings   | 11 |
| Focus of Recruitment  | 11 |
| Student Enrollment Goals                                      | 17 |
| Advanced Placement  | 18 |
| Standardized Testing  | 21 |
| Affirmative Action  | 27 |
| Out-of-State Admissions                                       | 31 |
| International Students and Pathways Programs                  | 33 |
| Competitive Admissions at Public Universities                 | 36 |
| Waiting Lists   | 38 |
| Image of Higher Education                                     | 40 |
| Implications of the 2016 Presidential Election for Admissions | 42 |
| Student Debt  | 44 |
| Marketing Strategy and Institutional Organization             | 45 |
| Community Colleges  | 47 |
| Institution and Personal Demographics                         | 50 |
| About Inside Higher Ed  | 51 |
| About Gallup  | 51 |

### **FOREWORD**

Ensuring a sufficiently large and diverse student population is the key responsibility of college and university admissions directors and enrollment managers. Achieving this goal has become increasingly challenging, with intensifying competition for a stagnating and in some places shrinking pool of traditional-age undergraduates, doubts about the value of a degree growing, and funds for public colleges and universities in some states declining. This study addresses important questions about admissions and recruiting policies and procedures as perceived by leaders grappling with these issues.

Some of the questions this study addresses include:

- Did institutions meet their enrollment goals for the current academic year?
- Which undergraduate student populations are the focus of admissions recruitment efforts?
- How do admissions directors view Advanced Placement courses for applicants?
- Do admissions directors expect colleges to abandon requirements for SAT or ACT scores?
- How useful do admissions directors think the SAT/ACT essay exams are?
- Do admissions directors believe Asian-American applicants are held to higher standards?
- How are colleges responding to the latest challenges to affirmative action policies?
- Are colleges seeking more out-of-state students, and have their efforts been successful?
- How are colleges responding to decreases in the enrollment of international students?
- Are admissions waiting lists growing too long, and are colleges using them to avoid rejecting certain applicants?
- How did the outcome of the 2016 U.S. presidential election affect institutions' strategies for recruiting students from certain population groups?
- How are concerns about student loan debt and the value of a college education affecting college admissions?
- What factors are affecting community college admissions?

# **AACRAO**



ADMISSIONS & ENROLLMENT AT AACRAO

WWW.AACRAO.ORG/ADMISSIONS

### **SNAPSHOT OF FINDINGS**

A majority of admissions directors say they were very concerned about meeting their school's enrollment goals for the coming academic year. Just 38 percent met their enrollment goals by the traditional May 1 end of the admission period, and less than half did so by June 1.

Other findings from the study include:

- A majority of public doctoral institution admissions directors report achieving their college's enrollment goal by May 1. Half of private college admissions directors say they met their goal by June 1, but roughly two-thirds of those at public associate and public master's/baccalaureate colleges did not.
- Admissions directors are most likely to agree their college is increasing its efforts to recruit full-time undergraduate students (81 percent) and least likely to say the same about part-time undergraduates (36 percent). Seven in 10 indicate they are increasing efforts to recruit minority students, and two-thirds are making greater attempts to recruit first-generation college students.
- In the past four years, there has been a sharp decline in the percentage of admissions directors who say their college is increasing its efforts to recruit international students, from 60 percent in 2015 to 42 percent today.
- Over that same period, there have been significant increases in the percentages saying their college is making greater attempts to recruit online students (from 41 to 54 percent) and students older than 24 (from 39 to 52 percent).
- Admissions directors by a two-to-one margin agree that they support the recent decision by eight elite private high schools to abandon the Advanced Placement program.
- Admissions directors consider International Baccalaureate (IB) courses and most honors courses to be rigorous, and widely reject the notion that students who take IB or honors courses rather than AP courses are disadvantaged in the admissions process.
- Six in 10 admissions directors strongly agree or agree high school students take too many AP courses because they think it is necessary to do so to gain college admission.
- A majority of admissions directors, 56 percent, believe the University of Chicago's decision to drop standardized test requirements for applicants will encourage other (elite) colleges to do away with their own requirements. But 7 in 10 admissions directors at colleges that have standardized test requirements disagree that the Chicago decision prompted reconsideration of their own college's policy. Three-quarters predict their college will continue to require ACT or SAT scores in 10 years.

7

## **SNAPSHOT OF FINDINGS (cont.)**

- Six in 10 admissions directors strongly agree or agree that college waiting lists have become too long. Most strongly disagree or disagree that their college uses waiting lists to avoid rejecting strong applicants or those with connections to the college.
- Admissions directors remain concerned about the image of higher education, and their concerns are not subsiding. Close to 9 in 10 say higher education needs to do a better job explaining the value of earning a college degree, and two-thirds believe media reports of college graduates struggling to find adequate employment, as well as public discussion of student debt, are discouraging students from considering higher education.
- Eight in 10 admissions directors and an even greater proportion at private institutions say their college is losing potential applicants because of concerns about accumulating student loan debt.
- Admissions directors are largely satisfied with their institution's CRM (Customer Relationship Management)
  for admissions and its marketing strategy. But as many are dissatisfied as satisfied with their college's social
  media strategy.
- Community college admissions directors believe competition from other higher education institutions, a desire
  among prospective students to earn a bachelor's degree, and public discussion that degrees and certificates
  do not help people get ahead financially are among the reasons for enrollment struggles at their college and at
  two-year colleges nationally.
- The vast majority of admissions directors at two-year colleges say that prospective community college students are interested in transfer opportunities to four-year colleges. They are more positive about programs that public four-year colleges offer to encourage community college students to transfer than about programs private institutions and especially for-profit colleges offer.

### **METHODOLOGY**

This report presents findings from a quantitative survey research study Gallup conducted on behalf of *Inside Higher Ed*. Gallup sent invitations via email to 4,456 admissions directors and enrollment managers, with regular reminders sent throughout the July 23-Aug. 16, 2018, field period. Gallup collected 499 web surveys, yielding an 11 percent response rate. Respondents represented 229 public institutions, 259 private institutions and 11 institutions from the for-profit sector.

|         | Total Participation, by Sector                      |        |                           |                |          |                    |        |                       |       |         |  |  |  |
|---------|---|--------|---------------------------|----------------|----------|--------------------|--------|-----------------------|-------|---------|--|--|--|
|         | All Institutions by Sector Public Private Nonprofit |        |                           |                |          |                    |        |                       |       |         |  |  |  |
|         | All   | Public | Private<br>Non-<br>profit | For-<br>Profit | Doctoral | Master's/<br>Bacc. | Assoc. | Doctoral/<br>Master's | Васс. | Assoc.* |  |  |  |
| Total N | 499   | 229    | 259                       | 11             | 55       | 85                 | 85     | 124                   | 113   | 3       |  |  |  |

<sup>\*</sup> Data not reported for these groups due to small sample size

Note: System offices and specialized institutions are categorized by sector but not by highest degree offering. Consequently, in some tables, percentages for subgroups (e.g., private doctoral/master's and private baccalaureate) may appear inconsistent with the total for the entire group (e.g., all private institutions).

Some sectors do not have data reported due to small sample sizes. Sector groupings are determined based on the 2015 Carnegie Classification for the institution.

Gallup education consultants developed the questionnaire in collaboration with Scott Jaschik and Doug Lederman of *Inside Higher Ed*. Bible colleges and seminaries with a Carnegie Classification of 24 and institutions with an enrollment of fewer than 500 students were excluded from the sample. Each institution is represented only once in the results.

The survey was an attempted census of all admissions directors or enrollment managers using the most comprehensive sample information available. Gallup statistically weighted data to correct for nonresponse, matching the obtained sample to targets for all U.S. colleges and universities from the Integrated Postsecondary Education Data System (IPEDS) database. Gallup weighted the sample based on institutional control (public or private/nonprofit), four-year or two-year degree offerings, student enrollment and geographical region. Therefore, the weighted sample results can be considered representative of the views of admissions directors at colleges nationwide.

The following sections present the findings of the survey. In some cases, reported frequencies may not add up to 100 percent due to rounding. "Don't know" and "Refused" responses are excluded from the results unless otherwise indicated.



Reach prospects around the world who have demonstrated graduate-level readiness through their *GRE*® test performance.



**GRE**<sup>®</sup> SEARCH SERVICE

A robust database of 500,000+ individuals who are pursuing an advanced degree and want to hear from programs like yours

- Select from 30+ search criteria to cost-effectively broaden your reach and segment your campaigns.
- Identify potential candidates using GRE® score bands and UGPA academic performance criteria.
- Recruit a **diverse** class using demographic and geographic data, hundreds of academic disciplines and more.

ets.org/gre/search

Now with no annual fee — pay only for the names you need! Contact us for a FREE demo: gresearch@ets.org.

### **FOCUS OF RECRUITMENT**

Full-time undergraduates and minority students are two student populations colleges commonly target with recruitment efforts. Eighty-one percent of admissions directors strongly agree or agree that they are very likely to increase recruiting efforts this year for full-time undergraduates, and 71 percent say the same about minority students. Roughly two-thirds of admissions directors indicate their college will make greater efforts to recruit first-generation college students (67 percent) and transfer students (64 percent). Slim majorities say students recruited with merit scholarships (55 percent), online students (54 percent), out-of-state students (53 percent) and students older than 24 (52 percent) will be a focus of recruitment for their college.

Colleges are less likely to increase their focus on recruiting veterans and military personnel (45 percent), international students (42 percent), full-pay students (41 percent) and part-time undergraduates (36 percent).

The recruitment focus at community colleges differs from that at other types of institutions in many ways. Admissions directors at public associate-granting colleges are nearly as likely to say they will increase their efforts to recruit part-time undergraduates (68 percent) as they are to say the same about full-time undergraduates (70 percent). At all other types of institutions, efforts are much more focused on full-time undergraduates.

Public associate admissions directors also indicate that students older than 24 are a key recruiting target for their college, but they are less likely than admissions directors at other colleges to say they are focusing on recruiting transfer students, out-of-state students, international students, full-pay students and those recruited with merit scholarships.

Majorities of community college and public doctoral admissions directors strongly agree that first-generation college students are a focus of recruitment for their college, compared with fewer than 4 in 10 directors at other types of colleges.

Using a five-point scale, where 5 means strongly agree and 1 means strongly disagree, please indicate your level of agreement with the following statement about undergraduate applicant populations.

This year at my institution, I am very likely to increase my recruitment efforts for the following populations of undergraduate applicants to my institution:

|   | All Ins | titutions by | Sector               |          | Public             |        | Private N             | onprofit |  |  |  |  |
|---|---------|--------------|----------------------|----------|--------------------|--------|-----------------------|----------|--|--|--|--|
|   | All     | Public       | Private<br>Nonprofit | Doctoral | Master's/<br>Bacc. | Assoc. | Doctoral/<br>Master's | Bacc.    |  |  |  |  |
| Full-time undergra                        | aduates |              |                      |          |                    |        |                       |          |  |  |  |  |
| %5 Strongly agree 59 54 63 63 73 47 61 71 |         |              |                      |          |                    |        |                       |          |  |  |  |  |
| %4  | 22      | 21           | 22                   | 23       | 13                 | 23     | 29                    | 13       |  |  |  |  |
| %3  | 14      | 21           | 7                    | 12       | 12                 | 25     | 6                     | 4        |  |  |  |  |
| %2  | 4       | 4            | 4                    | 2        | 0                  | 5      | 1                     | 7        |  |  |  |  |
| %1 Strongly disagree                      | 2       | 0            | 3                    | 0        | 2                  | 0      | 2                     | 5        |  |  |  |  |
| Minority students                         |         |              | 0                    |          |                    |        |                       |          |  |  |  |  |
| %5 Strongly agree                         | 45      | 51           | 40                   | 64       | 45                 | 50     | 54                    | 33       |  |  |  |  |
| %4  | 26      | 23           | 29                   | 23       | 23                 | 23     | 25                    | 40       |  |  |  |  |
| %3  | 24      | 21           | 26                   | 13       | 27                 | 21     | 19                    | 19       |  |  |  |  |
| %2  | 4       | 3            | 4                    | 0        | 4                  | 4      | 1                     | 7        |  |  |  |  |
| %1 Strongly disagree                      | 2       | 2            | 1                    | 0        | 1                  | 3      | 1                     | <1       |  |  |  |  |

12

|                      | All Ins       | titutions by | Sector               |          | Public             |        | Private N             | onprofit |
|----------------------|---------------|--------------|----------------------|----------|--------------------|--------|-----------------------|----------|
|                      | All           | Public       | Private<br>Nonprofit | Doctoral | Master's/<br>Bacc. | Assoc. | Doctoral/<br>Master's | Bacc.    |
| First-generation col | lege student  | ts           |                      |          |                    |        |                       |          |
| %5 Strongly agree    | 43            | 52           | 35                   | 56       | 36                 | 55     | 38                    | 37       |
| %4                   | 24            | 21           | 27                   | 19       | 32                 | 19     | 21                    | 36       |
| %3                   | 26            | 21           | 29                   | 23       | 27                 | 19     | 36                    | 22       |
| %2                   | 6             | 3            | 8                    | 2        | 5                  | 3      | 4                     | 4        |
| %1 Strongly disagree | 2             | 3            | <1                   | 0        | 0                  | 4      | 1                     | <1       |
| Transfer students    |               |              |                      |          |                    |        |                       |          |
| %5 Strongly agree    | 37            | 31           | 40                   | 50       | 54                 | 20     | 56                    | 32       |
| %4                   | 27            | 25           | 29                   | 31       | 30                 | 22     | 29                    | 36       |
| %3                   | 22            | 24           | 20                   | 17       | 11                 | 28     | 12                    | 26       |
| %2                   | 7             | 12           | 4                    | 2        | 5                  | 16     | 3                     | 3        |
| %1 Strongly disagree | 7             | 8            | 7                    | 0        | 0                  | 13     | 1                     | 4        |
| Students recruited v | vith merit so | holarships   |                      |          |                    |        |                       |          |
| %5 Strongly agree    | 29            | 22           | 34                   | 37       | 32                 | 13     | 32                    | 46       |
| %4                   | 26            | 25           | 27                   | 30       | 35                 | 20     | 20                    | 27       |
| %3                   | 24            | 31           | 18                   | 22       | 25                 | 36     | 22                    | 14       |
| %2                   | 12            | 10           | 14                   | 6        | 6                  | 13     | 22                    | 6        |
| %1 Strongly disagree | 9             | 12           | 7                    | 6        | 2                  | 17     | 4                     | 7        |
| Online students      |               |              |                      |          |                    |        | -                     |          |
| %5 Strongly agree    | 31            | 25           | 38                   | 27       | 26                 | 25     | 39                    | 37       |
| %4                   | 23            | 26           | 20                   | 18       | 13                 | 30     | 19                    | 15       |
| %3                   | 20            | 28           | 10                   | 18       | 25                 | 30     | 17                    | 3        |
| %2                   | 12            | 12           | 10                   | 14       | 18                 | 10     | 7                     | 15       |
| %1 Strongly disagree | 15            | 9            | 22                   | 23       | 18                 | 5      | 19                    | 30       |
| Out-of-state studen  | its           |              |                      |          |                    |        |                       |          |
| %5 Strongly agree    | 30            | 23           | 35                   | 41       | 54                 | 9      | 35                    | 36       |
| %4                   | 23            | 18           | 28                   | 32       | 24                 | 13     | 27                    | 34       |
| %3                   | 23            | 18           | 25                   | 17       | 16                 | 20     | 28                    | 20       |
| %2                   | 13            | 19           | 8                    | 6        | 1                  | 28     | 9                     | 6        |
| %1 Strongly disagree | 12            | 21           | 4                    | 4        | 5                  | 30     | 1                     | 4        |

|                      | All Ins  | titutions by | Sector               |          | Public             |        | Private N             | onprofit |
|----------------------|----------|--------------|----------------------|----------|--------------------|--------|-----------------------|----------|
|                      | All      | Public       | Private<br>Nonprofit | Doctoral | Master's/<br>Bacc. | Assoc. | Doctoral/<br>Master's | Bacc.    |
| Students older than  | 24       |              |                      |          |                    |        |                       |          |
| %5 Strongly agree    | 31       | 37           | 25                   | 22       | 17                 | 45     | 27                    | 19       |
| %4                   | 21       | 26           | 15                   | 11       | 15                 | 31     | 25                    | 10       |
| %3                   | 27       | 24           | 30                   | 30       | 37                 | 19     | 29                    | 34       |
| %2                   | 12       | 8            | 16                   | 22       | 18                 | 3      | 9                     | 19       |
| %1 Strongly disagree | 10       | 6            | 14                   | 15       | 12                 | 3      | 10                    | 18       |
| Veterans/military pe | ersonnel |              |                      |          |                    |        |                       |          |
| %5 Strongly agree    | 17       | 23           | 12                   | 22       | 21                 | 24     | 26                    | 4        |
| %4                   | 28       | 31           | 25                   | 26       | 33                 | 30     | 20                    | 21       |
| %3                   | 36       | 36           | 35                   | 44       | 32                 | 37     | 40                    | 38       |
| %2                   | 13       | 5            | 21                   | 8        | 9                  | 4      | 11                    | 28       |
| %1 Strongly disagree | 6        | 5            | 7                    | 0        | 6                  | 6      | 3                     | 9        |
| International studer | nts      |              |                      |          |                    |        |                       |          |
| %5 Strongly agree    | 20       | 20           | 19                   | 40       | 25                 | 14     | 30                    | 17       |
| %4                   | 22       | 16           | 28                   | 20       | 25                 | 12     | 20                    | 35       |
| %3                   | 28       | 31           | 26                   | 26       | 37                 | 30     | 36                    | 24       |
| %2                   | 18       | 17           | 19                   | 12       | 6                  | 21     | 10                    | 19       |
| %1 Strongly disagree | 12       | 16           | 8                    | 2        | 6                  | 23     | 4                     | 6        |
| Full-pay students    |          |              |                      |          |                    |        |                       |          |
| %5 Strongly agree    | 20       | 17           | 23                   | 18       | 26                 | 15     | 26                    | 25       |
| %4                   | 21       | 15           | 25                   | 26       | 15                 | 14     | 31                    | 18       |
| %3                   | 32       | 39           | 27                   | 41       | 36                 | 39     | 26                    | 30       |
| %2                   | 15       | 15           | 15                   | 13       | 15                 | 15     | 11                    | 12       |
| %1 Strongly disagree | 11       | 14           | 10                   | 2        | 9                  | 18     | 6                     | 15       |
| Part-time graduates  | S        |              |                      |          |                    |        |                       |          |
| %5 Strongly agree    | 18       | 29           | 7                    | 14       | 18                 | 35     | 8                     | 4        |
| %4                   | 18       | 25           | 12                   | 8        | 9                  | 33     | 17                    | 8        |
| %3                   | 26       | 26           | 25                   | 25       | 28                 | 24     | 25                    | 26       |
| %2                   | 17       | 9            | 24                   | 24       | 22                 | 4      | 18                    | 29       |
| %1 Strongly disagree | 22       | 11           | 33                   | 29       | 23                 | 4      | 31                    | 34       |

The rank order of these groups has been similar in past years, with full-time undergraduates always first, minority students and transfer students near the top, and part-time undergraduates always last. Some of the notable trends compared with prior years' surveys are:

- The proportion of admissions directors who strongly agree or agree that their college will increase efforts to recruit international students has fallen from 60 percent in 2015 to 50 percent in 2016 to 42 percent today.
- Admissions directors are also less likely now (41 percent) than in past years to say their college is increasing its
  focus to recruit full-pay students. In 2015, 51 percent agreed they were doing so.
- Since 2015, there have been 13-point increases in the percentages saying their college is increasing efforts to recruit students older than 24 (from 39 to 52 percent) and online students (from 41 to 54 percent).
- The 67 percent of admissions directors indicating their college will make greater efforts to recruit first-generation college students is up from 58 percent a year ago (and the 59 percent average for 2014 through 2017).



NOVEMBER 15th

# THE ADMISSIONS CHALLENGES FACING PRIVATE COLLEGES

Washington, DC

PRESENTING SPONSOR **Strada Education Network** 

REGISTER NOW insidehighered.com/events

### STUDENT ENROLLMENT GOALS

Most colleges are not meeting their enrollment goals by the traditional date for admissions acceptances, May 1. Thirty-eight percent of admissions directors say their college met its goal by that date, similar to the 34 percent who did so in 2017 and 37 percent in 2016. As in past years, public doctoral colleges are most likely to meet their goals by May 1, with 54 percent of admissions directors at those institutions reporting doing so this year.

Another 8 percent of all admissions directors say their college met its enrollment goals by June 1, bringing the total to 46 percent who met their goal within a month of the traditional admissions season deadline. Fifty-three percent of private college admissions directors say they met their enrollment goals by June 1. However, roughly two-thirds of community college and public master's/baccalaureate admissions directors say their college did not meet its goals by June 1.

Most admissions directors - 90 percent - say they were very (55 percent) or moderately (35 percent) concerned about reaching their institution's enrollment goals this year. Those figures are similar to results from the prior two years.

| Many colleges a   |          |                              |        |                | and composi<br>ut each of th |                 | student bodie         | es. Please     |  |  |  |  |
|---|----------|------------------------------|--------|----------------|------------------------------|-----------------|-----------------------|----------------|--|--|--|--|
|   | All Inst | itutions by                  | Sector |                | Public                       |                 | Private N             | lonprofit      |  |  |  |  |
|   | All      | All Public Private Nonprofit |        |                | Master's/<br>Bacc.           | Assoc.          | Doctoral/<br>Master's | Bacc.          |  |  |  |  |
| Did your institution meet its new student enrollment goals this year prior to May 1, 2018? Did your institution meet its new student enrollment goals this year prior to June 1, 2018?* |          |                              |        |                |                              |                 |                       |                |  |  |  |  |
| % Prior to May 1, 2018 38 29 45 54 27 26 47 43  |          |                              |        |                |                              |                 |                       |                |  |  |  |  |
| % Prior to June 1, 2018   | 8        | 8                            | 8      | 2              | 10                           | 8               | 6                     | 7              |  |  |  |  |
| % Not prior to June 1,<br>2018  | 54       | 62                           | 47     | 44             | 63                           | 66              | 47                    | 51             |  |  |  |  |
| Thinking back, plea<br>year, that is, for the   |          |                              |        | re about meeti | ng your institu              | ıtion's new stu | ıdent enrollme        | ent goals this |  |  |  |  |
| % Very concerned  | 55       | 59                           | 52     | 24             | 62                           | 64              | 53                    | 53             |  |  |  |  |
| % Moderately con-<br>cerned   | 35       | 32                           | 37     | 54             | 27                           | 28              | 30                    | 35             |  |  |  |  |
| % Not too concerned   | 9        | 9                            | 9      | 16             | 7                            | 8               | 11                    | 11             |  |  |  |  |
| % Not concerned at all  | 2        | 1                            | 2      | 6              | 4                            | 0               | 6                     | 0              |  |  |  |  |

<sup>\*</sup>Asked of those whose institution did not meet its new student enrollment goals prior to May 1, 2018

### ADVANCED PLACEMENT

Many high school students attempt to improve their college credentials, and possibly earn college credits, by taking Advanced Placement (AP) courses. This year, several elite private schools in the Washington, D.C., area announced their intention to cease offering AP courses. Admissions directors are twice as likely to strongly agree or agree (44 percent) that they support that decision as they are to strongly disagree or disagree (22 percent). At the same time, admissions directors acknowledge that it is easy for those schools to make such a decision given their reputations but that it would not be easy for other schools to do the same — 66 percent strongly agree or agree with this statement.

The schools' announcement has implications for college admissions, particularly in terms of how much AP courses, or a lack of them, factor into admissions decisions.

As seen on the following page, nearly three-fourths of admissions directors strongly agree or agree that students attending schools that do not offer AP courses (but do offer other advanced courses) will not be disadvantaged in the admissions process. This may stem from admissions directors' belief that honors courses and International Baccalaureate (IB) courses are rigorous.

Fifty-nine percent of admissions directors strongly agree or agree that most honors courses are rigorous, and 74 percent say the same about IB courses. By comparison, 70 percent say AP courses are rigorous.

Admissions directors widely reject the idea that their college favors applicants with AP courses over those with honors or IB courses — 76 percent disagree, including 51 percent who do so strongly.

Still, admissions directors do express concerns about the role AP can play in admissions. More than 6 in 10 strongly agree or agree that students take too many AP courses, thinking it is necessary for admission into college. A majority of admissions directors also strongly agree or agree that the emphasis on AP courses puts low-income students at a disadvantage in the admissions process if they attend schools with limited AP offerings.

# **ADVANCED PLACEMENT (cont.)**

Recently, eight elite private high schools announced that they were dropping out of the Advanced Placement program. They said they could create better advanced courses themselves and that many students feel pressured to take AP courses over other courses or experiences that may be more meaningful. Further, those schools' leaders did not think a lack of AP courses would hurt their students in college admissions.

Using a five-point scale, where 5 means strongly agree and 1 means strongly disagree, please indicate your level of agreement with the following statements.

|  | All Inst     | itutions by   | Sector               |                  | Public             |                 | Private N             | lonprofit |
|--|--------------|---------------|----------------------|------------------|--------------------|-----------------|-----------------------|-----------|
|  | All          | Public        | Private<br>Nonprofit | Doctoral         | Master's/<br>Bacc. | Assoc.          | Doctoral/<br>Master's | Bacc.     |
| I support the annou  | incment of t | he eight scl  | nools to drop        | out of the AF    | program.           |                 |                       |           |
| %5 Strongly agree  | 22           | 25            | 19                   | 16               | 16                 | 29              | 13                    | 24        |
| %4   | 22           | 24            | 19                   | 19               | 19                 | 27              | 14                    | 20        |
| %3   | 35           | 31            | 39                   | 25               | 42                 | 29              | 34                    | 42        |
| %2   | 13           | 9             | 15                   | 14               | 11                 | 7               | 27                    | 10        |
| %1 Strongly disagree   | 9            | 11            | 7                    | 25               | 11                 | 8               | 12                    | 5         |
| It was easy for the easy for th | easy for oth | er high sch   | ools to do so        | ).<br>D.         |                    |                 |                       |           |
| %5 Strongly agree  | 34           | 35            | 34                   | 43               | 43                 | 29              | 34                    | 35        |
| %4   | 32           | 28            | 34                   | 26               | 33                 | 28              | 41                    | 32        |
| %3   | 20           | 19            | 20                   | 17               | 17                 | 20              | 21                    | 21        |
| %2   | 9            | 11            | 8                    | 4                | 6                  | 15              | 3                     | 6         |
| %1 Strongly disagree   | 5            | 6             | 4                    | 9                | 1                  | 8               | 2                     | 5         |
| Students from high the admissions pro  |              | nt do not off | er AP course         | es, but offer ot | her advanced       | courses, will n | ot be disadvar        | ntaged in |
| %5 Strongly agree  | 49           | 50            | 48                   | 51               | 54                 | 48              | 42                    | 57        |
| %4   | 25           | 22            | 27                   | 20               | 21                 | 22              | 27                    | 30        |
| %3   | 16           | 17            | 16                   | 18               | 16                 | 17              | 22                    | 6         |
| %2   | 7            | 10            | 4                    | 10               | 7                  | 11              | 7                     | 4         |
| %1 Strongly disagree   | 3            | 1             | 4                    | 0                | 1                  | 1               | 2                     | 3         |

# **ADVANCED PLACEMENT (cont.)**

|   | All Inst      | itutions by  | Sector               |                 | Public             |                 | Private N             | onprofit   |
|---|---------------|--------------|----------------------|-----------------|--------------------|-----------------|-----------------------|------------|
|   | All           | Public       | Private<br>Nonprofit | Doctoral        | Master's/<br>Bacc. | Assoc.          | Doctoral/<br>Master's | Bacc.      |
| I consider AP cours                       | ses to be rig | orous.       |                      |                 |                    |                 |                       |            |
| %5 Strongly agree                         | 24            | 25           | 25                   | 42              | 19                 | 24              | 34                    | 25         |
| %4  | 46            | 40           | 52                   | 46              | 54                 | 34              | 52                    | 52         |
| %3  | 24            | 32           | 17                   | 12              | 22                 | 39              | 13                    | 18         |
| %2  | 5             | 3            | 6                    | 0               | 4                  | 4               | 1                     | 4          |
| %1 Strongly disagree                      | <1            | <1           | 0                    | 0               | 1                  | 0               | 0                     | 0          |
| I consider IB (Inter                      | national Bad  | coalaureat   | e) courses to        | o be rigorous.  |                    |                 |                       |            |
| %5 Strongly agree                         | 39            | 32           | 46                   | 55              | 45                 | 20              | 50                    | 53         |
| %4  | 35            | 31           | 39                   | 32              | 39                 | 26              | 35                    | 35         |
| %3  | 21            | 34           | 11                   | 12              | 13                 | 51              | 15                    | 8          |
| %2  | 4             | 2            | 4                    | 0               | 2                  | 0               | 0                     | 4          |
| %1 Strongly disagree                      | 1             | 1            | 0                    | 0               | 0                  | 2               | 0                     | 0          |
| I consider most ho                        | nors course:  | s to be rigo | ous.                 |                 |                    |                 |                       |            |
| %5 Strongly agree                         | 13            | 12           | 13                   | 10              | 1                  | 17              | 22                    | 8          |
| %4  | 46            | 49           | 43                   | 33              | 57                 | 48              | 35                    | 43         |
| %3  | 32            | 33           | 33                   | 43              | 33                 | 32              | 33                    | 42         |
| %2  | 7             | 5            | 9                    | 10              | 5                  | 4               | 10                    | 6          |
| %1 Strongly disagree                      | 2             | 1            | 2                    | 4               | 4                  | 0               | 0                     | <1         |
| My college favors a laureate courses.     | applicants w  | ith AP cour  | ses on their         | transcripts ov  | er those with h    | onors course    | s or Internation      | al Bacca-  |
| %5 Strongly agree                         | 3             | 2            | 3                    | 4               | 3                  | 2               | 2                     | 4          |
| %4  | 6             | 4            | 7                    | 6               | 8                  | 3               | 4                     | 11         |
| %3  | 16            | 13           | 17                   | 14              | 22                 | 10              | 15                    | 18         |
| %2  | 25            | 19           | 30                   | 31              | 18                 | 17              | 33                    | 30         |
| %1 Strongly disagree                      | 51            | 61           | 43                   | 45              | 50                 | 69              | 46                    | 37         |
| Many students take                        | e too many /  | AP courses,  | believing th         | at it is necess | ary to be admit    | tted to college | <u>.</u>              |            |
| %5 Strongly agree                         | 28            | 19           | 34                   | 12              | 16                 | 21              | 22                    | 39         |
| %4  | 34            | 39           | 30                   | 47              | 45                 | 36              | 25                    | 32         |
| %3  | 26            | 29           | 24                   | 23              | 31                 | 30              | 34                    | 23         |
| %2  | 8             | 9            | 7                    | 14              | 7                  | 9               | 15                    | 3          |
| %1 Strongly disagree                      | 4             | 3            | 5                    | 4               | 1                  | 4               | 5                     | 4          |
| I am concerned that<br>process by the emp |               |              | attending so         | chools with lin | nited AP offerin   | ngs are disadv  | antaged in the        | admissions |
| %5 Strongly agree                         | 22            | 24           | 21                   | 20              | 19                 | 25              | 13                    | 16         |
| %4  | 31            | 25           | 36                   | 20              | 28                 | 25              | 36                    | 39         |
| %3  | 23            | 24           | 23                   | 29              | 31                 | 21              | 29                    | 24         |
| %2  | 14            | 15           | 13                   | 18              | 13                 | 15              | 11                    | 16         |
| %1 Strongly disagree                      | 10            | 13           | 8                    | 14              | 9                  | 14              | 11                    | 5          |

### STANDARDIZED TESTING

Many colleges have become "test optional" in admissions, meaning they do not require applicants to submit standardized test scores from the SAT or ACT. The movement gained footing when the University of Chicago decided to drop its requirement in June. A majority of college admissions directors, 53 percent, say their institution requires applicants to submit standardized test scores. This includes just 22 percent of those at community colleges but 92 percent of those at public doctoral institutions.

|                     | All Inst                     | itutions by | y Sector    |                         | Public          |                       | Private Nonprofit |    |  |
|---------------------|------------------------------|-------------|-------------|-------------------------|-----------------|-----------------------|-------------------|----|--|
|                     | All Public Private Nonprofit |             | Doctoral    | ctoral Master's/ Assoc. |                 | Doctoral/<br>Master's | Васс.             |    |  |
| Does your college i | equire appl                  | icants to s | ubmit stand | ardized test sc         | ores from the S | SAT or ACT?           |                   |    |  |
| % Yes               | 53                           | 43          | 64          | 92                      | 83              | 22                    | 63                | 76 |  |
| % No                | 47                           | 57          | 36          | 8                       | 17              | 78                    | 37                | 24 |  |

Fifty-six percent of admissions directors strongly agree or agree that Chicago's decision will encourage other colleges to drop standardized testing requirements; just 12 percent strongly disagree or disagree. However, admissions directors at colleges that currently have a standardized test requirement say the developments involving Chicago are not prompting a reconsideration of their own college's policy — 17 percent strongly agree or agree this has happened, while 69 percent strongly disagree or disagree.

Also, 35 percent of admissions directors at colleges requiring standardized test scores strongly agree or agree that they are open to dropping the requirement but face opposition from administrators at their college; 38 percent strongly disagree or disagree, and 27 percent are neutral.

Admissions directors share two concerns about standardized test requirements. Three-quarters agree, including 43 percent who do so strongly, that they are concerned about the persistent gaps in test scores by race and ethnicity. Sixty-two percent strongly agree or agree that the emphasis by parents and students on average test scores discourages students from applying to colleges at which they could be admitted and thrive.

Average test scores discourages students from applying to colleges at which they could be admitted and thrive.

This year, the University of Chicago joined other colleges that have in recent years dropped the requirement that applicants submit SAT or ACT scores.

Using a five-point scale, where 5 means strongly agree and 1 means strongly disagree, please indicate your level of agreement with the following statements.

|  | All Inst     | itutions by  | / Sector             |                | Public             |                  | Private N             | onprofit    |
|--|--------------|--------------|----------------------|----------------|--------------------|------------------|-----------------------|-------------|
|  | All          | Public       | Private<br>Nonprofit | Doctoral       | Master's/<br>Bacc. | Assoc.           | Doctoral/<br>Master's | Bacc.       |
| The change by the test requirements.       | University o | f Chicago i  | s likely to er       | ncourage other | colleges, inclu    | ding elite colle | ges, to drop st       | andardized  |
| %5 Strongly agree                          | 17           | 10           | 23                   | 14             | 12                 | 9                | 25                    | 19          |
| %4   | 39           | 38           | 39                   | 40             | 49                 | 32               | 40                    | 38          |
| %3   | 32           | 39           | 27                   | 34             | 30                 | 43               | 27                    | 31          |
| %2   | 6            | 6            | 6                    | 6              | 5                  | 7                | 2                     | 11          |
| %1 Strongly disagree                       | 6            | 8            | 4                    | 6              | 4                  | 9                | 6                     | 1           |
| The announcement ment.*                    | by the Univ  | versity of C | hicago is pro        | ompting my co  | llege to recons    | ider its standa  | rdized test sco       | re require- |
| %5 Strongly agree                          | 5            | 4            | 6                    | 4              | 6                  | n/a              | 6                     | 3           |
| %4   | 12           | 9            | 14                   | 18             | 9                  | n/a              | 6                     | 19          |
| %3   | 14           | 16           | 13                   | 22             | 20                 | n/a              | 19                    | 12          |
| %2   | 26           | 27           | 24                   | 22             | 25                 | n/a              | 32                    | 24          |
| %1 Strongly disagree                       | 43           | 44           | 43                   | 34             | 40                 | n/a              | 37                    | 42          |
| I am open to droppi<br>college are opposed |              |              | ardized test         | score requirer | nent, but admir    | nistrators or fa | culty members         | s at my     |
| %5 Strongly agree                          | 12           | 17           | 9                    | 5              | 16                 | n/a              | 10                    | 6           |
| %4   | 23           | 24           | 23                   | 25             | 26                 | n/a              | 16                    | 29          |
| %3   | 27           | 21           | 30                   | 30             | 21                 | n/a              | 33                    | 29          |
| %2   | 20           | 15           | 22                   | 23             | 16                 | n/a              | 14                    | 25          |
| %1 Strongly disagree                       | 18           | 23           | 15                   | 17             | 21                 | n/a              | 27                    | 12          |

|  | All Ins         | titutions by | Sector               |               | Public             |            | Private N             | lonprofit    |
|--|-----------------|--------------|----------------------|---------------|--------------------|------------|-----------------------|--------------|
|  | All             | Public       | Private<br>Nonprofit | Doctoral      | Master's/<br>Bacc. | Assoc.     | Doctoral/<br>Master's | Bacc.        |
| The persistent gaps                    | s in the averag | ge SAT and A | CT scores by         | racial and et | hnic group co      | oncern me. |                       |              |
| %5 Strongly agree                      | 43              | 40           | 45                   | 42            | 41                 | 38         | 42                    | 39           |
| %4                                     | 32              | 35           | 31                   | 30            | 38                 | 35         | 38                    | 30           |
| %3                                     | 19              | 19           | 20                   | 22            | 16                 | 20         | 16                    | 25           |
| %2                                     | 3               | 2            | 3                    | 4             | 1                  | 2          | 2                     | 5            |
| %1 Strongly disagree                   | 3               | 4            | 1                    | 2             | 4                  | 5          | 1                     | 0            |
| The emphasis on colleges at which they |                 |              |                      | and students  | discourages        | many stude | ents from appl        | ying to col- |
| %5 Strongly agree                      | 27              | 25           | 30                   | 19            | 21                 | 25         | 29                    | 25           |
| %4                                     | 35              | 36           | 34                   | 33            | 37                 | 37         | 39                    | 32           |
| %3                                     | 27              | 28           | 26                   | 38            | 31                 | 26         | 23                    | 32           |
| %2                                     | 8               | 8            | 7                    | 6             | 9                  | 9          | 6                     | 10           |
| %1 Strongly disagree                   | 3               | 3            | 2                    | 4             | 2                  | 3          | 3                     | 1            |

<sup>\*</sup>Asked of those whose college requires applicants to submit standardized test scores (n=289)

n/a=Not reported due to small sample size

Admissions directors expect that most colleges will continue to require applicants to submit standardized test scores. Fifty-eight percent say it is very (13 percent) or somewhat (45 percent) likely that 10 years from now standardized test scores will be required for applicants to most U.S. colleges, as seen on the next page. Admissions directors at public doctoral institutions (73 percent) and private baccalaureate colleges (70 percent) are most inclined to believe it is likely standardized test scores will still be required at most colleges.

Admissions directors at colleges that have standardized test requirements also expect that will continue to be the case at their institution a decade from now. Seventy-six percent believe it is very (27 percent) or somewhat (49 percent) likely their college will still require students to submit standardized test scores in 10 years.

|                                | All Ins           | titutions by     | Sector               |               | Public             |               | Private N             | lonprofit |
|--------------------------------|-------------------|------------------|----------------------|---------------|--------------------|---------------|-----------------------|-----------|
|                                | All               | Public           | Private<br>Nonprofit | Doctoral      | Master's/<br>Bacc. | Assoc.        | Doctoral/<br>Master's | Bacc.     |
| How likely do you<br>colleges? | u think it is the | at, 10 years fro | om now, stand        | dardized test | scores will b      | e requires fo | r applicants to       | most U.S. |
| % Very likely                  | 13                | 16               | 11                   | 22            | 11                 | 17            | 13                    | 12        |
| % Somewhat likely              | 45                | 36               | 54                   | 51            | 41                 | 30            | 48                    | 58        |
| % Not very likely              | 29                | 31               | 26                   | 20            | 31                 | 33            | 30                    | 21        |
| % Not likely at all            | 13                | 17               | 9                    | 6             | 17                 | 20            | 9                     | 8         |
| How likely do you<br>lege?*    | u think it is tha | at, 10 years fro | om now, stand        | dardized test | scores will b      | e required fo | or applicants to      | my col-   |
| % Very likely                  | 27                | 32               | 25                   | 36            | 27                 | n/a           | 29                    | 21        |
| % Somewhat likely              | 49                | 44               | 53                   | 36            | 42                 | n/a           | 47                    | 58        |
| % Not very likely              | 14                | 16               | 13                   | 20            | 22                 | n/a           | 18                    | 12        |
| % Not likely at all            | 9                 | 8                | 10                   | 9             | 9                  | n/a           | 6                     | 10        |

<sup>\*</sup>Asked of those whose college requires applicants to submit standardized test scores (n=289)

n/a=Not reported due to small sample size

In 2005, the SAT and ACT added essay portions to their exams. Those portions of the exams are no longer required of test takers, and an increasingly smaller number of colleges require applicants to submit essay scores. Admissions directors do not have positive opinions of the ACT and SAT essay portions.

As seen on the following page, 12 percent strongly agree or agree, while 65 percent strongly disagree or disagree, that they value the insights they gain on applicants from the SAT essay score. Opinions are similar about the ACT essay score (13 percent strongly agree or agree, and 62 percent strongly disagree or disagree).

A total of 79 percent of admissions directors agree, including 50 percent who agree strongly, that there are better ways to evaluate applicants' writing abilities than the ACT or SAT essay scores. One such way, recently adopted by Princeton University, is to require applicants to submit a graded high school paper. Fifty-one percent strongly agree or agree, while 20 percent strongly disagree or disagree, that a graded high school essay gives more insight into writing abilities than SAT or ACT essay exam scores.

Each year, millions of high school students complete the essay portions of the SAT and ACT exams. About two dozen U.S. colleges require applicants to take the essay portion of those exams. Princeton, Harvard, Yale and Stanford universities are among the colleges that have recently dropped the requirement. Princeton will now require applicants to submit a graded high school paper as part of its application.

Using a five-point scale, where 5 means strongly agree and 1 means strongly disagree, please indicate your level of agreement with the following statements.

|                                       | All Inst    | itutions by   | Sector               |                  | Public             |                 | Private N             | lonprofit   |
|---------------------------------------|-------------|---------------|----------------------|------------------|--------------------|-----------------|-----------------------|-------------|
|                                       | All         | Public        | Private<br>Nonprofit | Doctoral         | Master's/<br>Bacc. | Assoc.          | Doctoral/<br>Master's | Bacc.       |
| I value the insights                  | l gain on a | pplicants fro | om the SAT           | essay score.     |                    |                 |                       |             |
| %5 Strongly agree                     | 2           | 0             | 4                    | 0                | 0                  | n/a             | 3                     | 1           |
| %4                                    | 10          | 8             | 11                   | 3                | 10                 | n/a             | 13                    | 10          |
| %3                                    | 23          | 27            | 20                   | 13               | 12                 | n/a             | 20                    | 18          |
| %2                                    | 23          | 25            | 21                   | 31               | 23                 | n/a             | 23                    | 20          |
| %1 Strongly disagree                  | 42          | 40            | 44                   | 53               | 54                 | n/a             | 41                    | 51          |
| I value the insights                  | l gain on a | pplicants fro | om the ACT           | essay score.     |                    |                 |                       |             |
| %5 Strongly agree                     | 3           | 2             | 3                    | 0                | 0                  | n/a             | 3                     | 0           |
| %4                                    | 10          | 10            | 11                   | 7                | 11                 | n/a             | 11                    | 11          |
| %3                                    | 25          | 25            | 25                   | 10               | 12                 | n/a             | 24                    | 24          |
| %2                                    | 21          | 25            | 17                   | 32               | 23                 | n/a             | 18                    | 15          |
| %1 Strongly disagree                  | 41          | 37            | 44                   | 52               | 54                 | n/a             | 43                    | 50          |
| I believe there are                   | better ways | than the AC   | T or SAT es          | say scores to    | evaluate applic    | ants' writing a | bilities.             |             |
| %5 Strongly agree                     | 50          | 43            | 57                   | 52               | 47                 | 40              | 52                    | 62          |
| %4                                    | 29          | 34            | 25                   | 22               | 38                 | 35              | 36                    | 18          |
| %3                                    | 17          | 16            | 17                   | 19               | 12                 | 17              | 10                    | 19          |
| %2                                    | 3           | 5             | 1                    | 5                | 3                  | 6               | 2                     | 1           |
| %1 Strongly disagree                  | 1           | 2             | <1                   | 2                | 0                  | 2               | 0                     | <1          |
| Requiring students abilities than ACT |             |               | jh school pa         | per with their a | application pro    | vides more ins  | ight into stude       | ent writing |
| %5 Strongly agree                     | 18          | 14            | 21                   | 6                | 24                 | 13              | 20                    | 18          |
| %4                                    | 33          | 32            | 33                   | 28               | 28                 | 35              | 31                    | 35          |
| %3                                    | 29          | 33            | 27                   | 47               | 31                 | 31              | 28                    | 28          |
| %2                                    | 12          | 11            | 13                   | 11               | 6                  | 13              | 13                    | 16          |
| %1 Strongly disagree                  | 8           | 9             | 7                    | 8                | 12                 | 8               | 8                     | 2           |

n/a=Not reported due to small sample size

Given their generally negative opinions of the SAT and ACT writing exams, it is not surprising that three-quarters of admissions directors say the essay portions should be dropped from those exams. This includes 89 percent of admissions directors at public doctoral institutions and 85 percent of those at private baccalaureate colleges.

|  | All Ins        | titutions by S | Sector               |            | Public             | Private Nonprofit |                       |       |
|--|----------------|----------------|----------------------|------------|--------------------|-------------------|-----------------------|-------|
|  | All            | Public         | Private<br>Nonprofit | Doctoral   | Master's/<br>Bacc. | Assoc.            | Doctoral/<br>Master's | Bacc. |
| Do you think the                                 | essay portions | should be dro  | pped from the        | ACT and SA | T exams?           |                   |                       |       |
| % Yes, should be dropped 76 69 81 89 78 64 76 85 |                |                |                      |            |                    |                   |                       |       |
| % No, should not be dropped                      | 24             | 31             | 19                   | 11         | 22                 | 36                | 24                    | 15    |

### **AFFIRMATIVE ACTION**

The use of affirmative action programs in college admissions has long been controversial. A prominent challenge today is a lawsuit alleging that Harvard University's admissions policies are biased against Asian-American applicants.

Forty-six percent of admissions directors believe that some colleges hold Asian-American applicants to higher standards than other students. This percentage is slightly higher than those found in the 2015 (43 percent) and 2016 (42 percent) surveys. In the current survey, half of admissions directors at public four-year institutions believe Asian-American applicants are held to higher standards.

When asked about the situation at their own college, 39 percent of admissions directors say that Asian-American students who are admitted to their college generally have higher grades and test scores than other applicants. That is higher than the 31 percent who said the same in 2016, when the question was last asked.

Admissions directors at public four-year colleges are slightly more likely than those at two-year public colleges or private colleges to say Asian-American applicants to their college typically have better grades and test scores than other applicants do.

|  | All Ins  | titutions by | Sector               |          | Public             |        | Private N             | lonprofit |  |
|--|--|--------------|----------------------|----------|--------------------|--------|-----------------------|-----------|--|
|  | All  | Public       | Private<br>Nonprofit | Doctoral | Master's/<br>Bacc. | Assoc. | Doctoral/<br>Master's | Bacc.     |  |
| As you may know, some Asian-American groups have alleged that Asian-American applicants are held to higher admission standards than all other students. Based on what you know or have heard, Do you believe that some colleges are holding Asian-American applicants to higher standards? |  |              |                      |          |                    |        |                       | er        |  |
| % Yes  | 46   | 46           | 44                   | 52       | 50                 | 42     | 43                    | 45        |  |
| % No   | 54   | 54           | 56                   | 48       | 50                 | 58     | 57                    | 55        |  |
| At your college, dapplicants?  | At your college, do Asian-American applicants who are admitted generally have higher grades and test scores than other applicants? |              |                      |          |                    |        |                       |           |  |
| % Yes  | 39   | 41           | 39                   | 47       | 48                 | 35     | 38                    | 42        |  |
| % No   | 61   | 59           | 61                   | 53       | 52                 | 65     | 62                    | 58        |  |

The current survey also asked about the implications of the Harvard lawsuit. As seen on the following page, 49 percent of admissions directors strongly agree or agree that the lawsuit is engendering significant distrust among Asian-American students and their families in the admissions process at competitive colleges; 13 percent strongly disagree or disagree this is occurring.

Also, half of admissions directors strongly agree or agree, and 18 percent strongly disagree or disagree, that the Harvard case could lead to new legal attacks on the ability of colleges to consider race in admissions.

Defenders of Harvard's practices assert that the university, like many institutions, makes decisions based on holistic evaluations of applications and not just on grades and test scores. More than three-quarters of admissions directors, 77 percent, strongly agree or agree that the public does not understand the concept of holistic admissions; 43 percent strongly agree.

# **AFFIRMATIVE ACTION (cont.)**

As you may know, Harvard University is facing a lawsuit over allegations that it discriminates against Asian-American applicants in admissions. Documents released by the plaintiffs demonstrate that Asian-American applicants score higher than other groups on academic measures, but many appear to be rejected because of rankings of their personalities or because they are not legacies or athletes.

Using a five-point scale, where 5 means strongly agree and 1 means strongly disagree, please indicate your level of agreement with the following statements.

|                                      | All Ins         | titutions by  | Sector               |               | Public             |                 | Private Nonprofit     |              |
|--------------------------------------|-----------------|---------------|----------------------|---------------|--------------------|-----------------|-----------------------|--------------|
|                                      | All             | Public        | Private<br>Nonprofit | Doctoral      | Master's/<br>Bacc. | Assoc.          | Doctoral/<br>Master's | Bacc.        |
| The public discuss the admissions pr |                 |               |                      | listrust amor | ng Asian-Ame       | erican applic   | ants and thei         | r famlies in |
| %5 Strongly agree                    | 13              | 13            | 13                   | 9             | 22                 | 11              | 15                    | 16           |
| %4                                   | 36              | 32            | 37                   | 44            | 45                 | 24              | 45                    | 40           |
| %3                                   | 39              | 45            | 35                   | 34            | 25                 | 56              | 30                    | 30           |
| %2                                   | 11              | 8             | 13                   | 3             | 8                  | 8               | 8                     | 14           |
| %1 Strongly disagree                 | 2               | 2             | 1                    | 9             | 0                  | 1               | 2                     | 1            |
| I am concerned the admissions.       | nat the lawsuit | against Harva | ard will lead to     | new legal at  | tacks on the a     | ability of coll | eges to cons          | der race in  |
| %5 Strongly agree                    | 20              | 17            | 23                   | 16            | 17                 | 17              | 28                    | 21           |
| %4                                   | 30              | 27            | 33                   | 44            | 29                 | 21              | 29                    | 33           |
| %3                                   | 32              | 36            | 30                   | 28            | 35                 | 39              | 29                    | 31           |
| %2                                   | 10              | 13            | 8                    | 9             | 13                 | 14              | 6                     | 12           |
| %1 Strongly disagree                 | 8               | 7             | 6                    | 2             | 6                  | 9               | 7                     | 3            |
| The public does no                   | ot understand   | the concept o | f holistic admi      | ssions.       |                    |                 |                       |              |
| %5 Strongly agree                    | 43              | 48            | 41                   | 51            | 51                 | 45              | 36                    | 36           |
| %4                                   | 34              | 30            | 36                   | 36            | 31                 | 29              | 47                    | 33           |
| %3                                   | 17              | 13            | 19                   | 13            | 6                  | 15              | 14                    | 26           |
| %2                                   | 6               | 9             | 4                    | 0             | 9                  | 10              | 3                     | 6            |
| %1 Strongly disagree                 | 0               | 0             | 0                    | 0             | 2                  | 0               | 0                     | 0            |

## **AFFIRMATIVE ACTION (cont.)**

The plaintiffs in the Harvard lawsuit criticize the university's use of legacy status as a factor in admissions. Admissions directors are more inclined to disagree (45 percent) than to agree (25 percent) that taking legacy status into account is appropriate. Private college admissions directors are more likely than those at public colleges to say legacy status is an appropriate factor to consider in admissions decisions.

About one in four admissions directors say their college takes legacy status into account in admissions, including 42 percent of private college admissions directors and 6 percent of public college admissions directors. A slight majority of private baccalaureate admissions directors say their college takes legacy status into account. About one in 10 admissions directors at public four-year colleges do so as well.

|                      | All Ins       | stitutions by  | Sector               |          | Public             | Private Nonprofit |                       |       |
|----------------------|---------------|----------------|----------------------|----------|--------------------|-------------------|-----------------------|-------|
|                      | All           | Public         | Private<br>Nonprofit | Doctoral | Master's/<br>Bacc. | Assoc.            | Doctoral/<br>Master's | Bacc. |
| Legacy status is a   | n appropriate | factor in admi | ssions.              |          |                    |                   |                       |       |
| %5 Strongly agree    | 7             | 5              | 8                    | 4        | 8                  | 4                 | 6                     | 5     |
| %4                   | 18            | 11             | 24                   | 9        | 17                 | 7                 | 27                    | 29    |
| %3                   | 29            | 22             | 34                   | 34       | 29                 | 17                | 44                    | 37    |
| %2                   | 21            | 25             | 19                   | 29       | 14                 | 29                | 8                     | 19    |
| %1 Strongly disagree | 24            | 37             | 15                   | 24       | 31                 | 42                | 14                    | 10    |

|                     | All Ins         | titutions by   | Sector               |          | Public                  |        | Private Nonprofit     |       |
|---------------------|-----------------|----------------|----------------------|----------|-------------------------|--------|-----------------------|-------|
|                     | All             | Public         | Private<br>Nonprofit | Doctoral | Mas-<br>ter's/<br>Bacc. | Assoc. | Doctoral/<br>Master's | Bacc. |
| At your college, is | s legacy status | a factor in ad | missions?            |          |                         |        |                       |       |
| % Yes               | 26              | 6              | 42                   | 11       | 13                      | 3      | 46                    | 53    |
| % No                | 74              | 94             | 58                   | 89       | 87                      | 97     | 54                    | 47    |

Admissions directors at colleges that take legacy status into account are, as would be expected, much more inclined to say it is an appropriate factor than are those whose college does not consider legacy status. For admissions directors at colleges that consider legacy status, 45 percent strongly agree or agree that it is appropriate, and 11 percent strongly disagree or disagree, as seen on the next page. In contrast, a majority of admissions directors at colleges that do not take into account legacy status disagree rather than agree, by 62 percent to 15 percent.

Admissions directors at colleges that consider legacy status also express greater concern about future attacks on the ability of colleges to consider race in admissions, and they believe the Harvard case is sowing distrust in admissions among Asian-Americans.

# **AFFIRMATIVE ACTION (cont.)**

|   | College Considers<br>Legacy Status | College Does Not<br>Consider Legacy Status |
|---|------------------------------------|--|
| Legacy status is an appropriate factor in admissions          |                                    |  |
| % Strongly agree/Agree  | 45                                 | 15   |
| % Strongly disagree/Disagree                                  | 11                                 | 62   |
| Discussion about Harvard case is creating distrust in admiss  | ions process among Asian-Ame       | ericans                                    |
| % Strongly agree/Agree  | 67                                 | 39   |
| % Strongly disagree/Disagree                                  | 8                                  | 17   |
| Concerned that Harvard lawsuit will lead to new legal attacks | on ability to consider race in ac  | Imissions                                  |
| % Strongly agree/Agree  | 69                                 | 40   |
| % Strongly disagree/Disagree                                  | 13                                 | 21   |
| Public does not understand the concept of holistic admission  | ns                                 |  |
| % Strongly agree/Agree  | 83                                 | 73   |
| % Strongly disagree/Disagree                                  | 4                                  | 8  |

In July, just before the survey began, the Trump administration announced it was withdrawing guidance previously issued by the Obama administration about the use of race in admissions decisions. The practical effect of that withdrawal will be negligible, according to admissions directors. Fully 95 percent of admissions directors say the Trump administration's actions have not led to any changes in how their college considers race in admissions and financial decisions.

In July, the Trump administration withdrew guidance issued under the Obama administration about how colleges could consider race in admissions and other decisions. The Trump administration's actions have:

|  | All Ins | titutions by | Sector               |          | Public             |        | Private N             | lonprofit |
|--|---------|--------------|----------------------|----------|--------------------|--------|-----------------------|-----------|
|  | All     | Public       | Private<br>Nonprofit | Doctoral | Master's/<br>Bacc. | Assoc. | Doctoral/<br>Master's | Bacc.     |
| % Made my college<br>much more cautious<br>about considering<br>race in admissions<br>and financial aid<br>decisions | 2       | 0            | 4                    | 0        | 0                  | 0      | 7                     | 0         |
| % Made my college<br>slightly more<br>cautious about<br>considering race   | 2       | 1            | 4                    | 2        | 1                  | 0      | 2                     | 6         |
| % Not led to any<br>changes in how my<br>college considers<br>race in admissions<br>and financial aid<br>decisions   | 95      | 99           | 92                   | 98       | 99                 | 100    | 91                    | 94        |

### **OUT-OF-STATE ADMISSIONS**

Some colleges, particularly public colleges, have made greater efforts in recent years to recruit out-of-state students. Out-of-state students are charged higher tuition at public colleges, and that extra revenue can help offset declines in public funding from state legislatures. However, the approach can be controversial, as state taxpayers and politicians may view the state's higher education institutions as public goods that should primarily benefit state residents.

Fifty-eight percent of admissions directors say their college has sought more out-of-state students in recent years, continuing a modest decline from 66 percent in 2016 and 63 percent last year.

Roughly 8 in 10 admissions directors at public doctoral (80 percent), public master's/baccalaureate (81 percent) and private baccalaureate (76 percent) institutions say their college has sought more out-of-state students in recent years.

The vast majority of admissions directors at colleges that have sought more out-of-state students say their efforts have been successful (81 percent) and have not attracted political or public scrutiny (94 percent). Public institution admissions directors are less likely than private institution directors to say their college's efforts have been successful (75 percent vs. 86 percent, respectively) and are more likely to say they have attracted scrutiny.

|   |   | s you may kı<br>gnificantly ir |               |              |                    |        | ts.                   |       |  |  |
|---|---|--------------------------------|---------------|--------------|--------------------|--------|-----------------------|-------|--|--|
|   | All Institutions by Sector Public Private |                                |               |              |                    |        |                       |       |  |  |
|   | All                                       | Public                         | Private       | Doctoral     | Master's/<br>Bacc. | Assoc. | Doctoral/<br>Master's | Bacc. |  |  |
| In recent years, has your college sought more out-of-state students?                            |   |                                |               |              |                    |        |                       |       |  |  |
| % Yes   | 58  | 54                             | 61            | 80           | 81                 | 40     | 50                    | 76    |  |  |
| % No  | 42  | 46                             | 39            | 20           | 19                 | 60     | 50                    | 24    |  |  |
| Have your college   | e's efforts to s                          | eek more out                   | of-state stud | ents been su | ccessful?*         |        |                       |       |  |  |
| % Yes   | 81  | 75                             | 86            | 94           | 63                 | n/a    | 91                    | 83    |  |  |
| % No  | 19  | 25                             | 14            | 6            | 37                 | n/a    | 9                     | 17    |  |  |
| Is your college facing political or public scrutiny over admitting more out-of-state students?* |   |                                |               |              |                    |        |                       |       |  |  |
| % Yes   | 6   | 15                             | 0             | 31           | 10                 | n/a    | 0                     | 1     |  |  |
| % No  | 94  | 85                             | 100           | 69           | 90                 | n/a    | 100                   | 99    |  |  |

<sup>\*</sup>Asked only of respondents whose institutions have sought more out-of-state students (n=266)

n/a=Not reported due to small sample size

# **OUT-OF-STATE ADMISSIONS (cont.)**

Just under half of admissions directors, 48 percent, strongly agree or agree that out-of-state students are essential to their college because of their tuition revenue. That sentiment is understandably much stronger among private college admissions directors (57 percent) than among those at public colleges (40 percent, with 34 percent disagreeing).

A majority of public institution admissions directors – 54 percent -- disagree that their institution would decrease out-of-state admissions if their state legislature provided more funds for higher education. Twenty-four percent agree. These attitudes are stable compared with prior years' surveys.

| Plea                 | se indicate y  | our level of a  | greement or          | disagreeme     | ent with the       | following st      | atements.             |       |
|----------------------|----------------|-----------------|----------------------|----------------|--------------------|-------------------|-----------------------|-------|
|                      | All Ins        | titutions by    | Sector               |                | Public             | Private Nonprofit |                       |       |
|                      | All            | Public          | Private<br>Nonprofit | Doctoral       | Master's/<br>Bacc. | Assoc.            | Doctoral/<br>Master's | Bacc. |
| Out-of-state stude   | ents are essen | tial to my coll | ege for their tu     | ition revenue  | <u>)</u> .         |                   |                       |       |
| %5 Strongly agree    | 29             | 26              | 32                   | 50             | 39                 | 16                | 37                    | 34    |
| %4                   | 19             | 14              | 25                   | 14             | 23                 | 10                | 26                    | 27    |
| %3                   | 21             | 27              | 16                   | 25             | 23                 | 28                | 21                    | 12    |
| %2                   | 13             | 18              | 8                    | 4              | 6                  | 26                | 7                     | 11    |
| %1 Strongly disagree | 17             | 16              | 18                   | 6              | 8                  | 20                | 9                     | 16    |
| If my state legistla | ture provided  | more funds, m   | ny institution w     | vould be likel | y to decrease      | out-of-state      | admissions.           |       |
| %5 Strongly agree    | 11             | 14              | 7                    | 18             | 18                 | 12                | 2                     | 12    |
| %4                   | 8              | 10              | 7                    | 11             | 22                 | 5                 | 15                    | 1     |
| %3                   | 17             | 22              | 12                   | 25             | 20                 | 22                | 14                    | 13    |
| %2                   | 19             | 22              | 16                   | 29             | 11                 | 24                | 10                    | 17    |
| %1 Strongly disagree | 45             | 32              | 59                   | 16             | 29                 | 37                | 59                    | 56    |

### INTERNATIONAL STUDENTS AND PATHWAYS PROGRAMS

U.S. colleges are a desired destination for many foreign students, but international student enrollment has declined the past two years. Fifty-seven percent of admissions directors strongly agree or agree that they are concerned about maintaining the same number of international students at their college in the years ahead. Seventy-four percent of public doctoral admissions directors express this concern.

Further, 74 percent of admissions directors agree — including 52 percent who strongly agree — that the policies and rhetoric of the Trump administration have made it more difficult to recruit international students.

The survey asked admissions directors about ways to address declining international student enrollment. They see pathways programs as important to keeping international student enrollment up. However, they are less positive about using scholarships or commission-paid agents to maintain adequate international enrollment.

Fifty-seven percent of admissions directors strongly agree or agree, while 12 percent strongly disagree or disagree, that pathways programs will become more important to U.S. higher education in the current environment.

Admissions directors are divided on whether their college will need to increase scholarships to international students to maintain enrollment levels; 42 percent strongly agree or agree that it will, and 37 percent strongly disagree or disagree.

By 44 percent to 39 percent, admissions directors are slightly more likely to disagree than to agree they are more open to using commission-paid agents to recruit international students. Public college admissions directors are less inclined to use such agents than are private college admissions directors, mostly because community college admissions directors disagree they would rely on them.

| As you                                |               |               | of new interr<br>level of agree |                |                    |                |                       |           |
|---------------------------------------|---------------|---------------|---------------------------------|----------------|--------------------|----------------|-----------------------|-----------|
|                                       | All Ins       | titutions by  | Sector                          |                | Public             |                | Private N             | lonprofit |
|                                       | All           | Public        | Private<br>Nonprofit            | Doctoral       | Master's/<br>Bacc. | Assoc.         | Doctoral/<br>Master's | Васс.     |
| I am concerned ab attracted in recent |               | ng the same n | umber of inte                   | rnational stud | dents in the y     | ears ahead th  | nat my colleg         | e has     |
| %5 Strongly agree                     | 36            | 35            | 35                              | 48             | 45                 | 27             | 40                    | 36        |
| %4                                    | 21            | 23            | 20                              | 26             | 14                 | 26             | 22                    | 24        |
| %3                                    | 21            | 18            | 23                              | 15             | 22                 | 18             | 20                    | 21        |
| %2                                    | 13            | 16            | 10                              | 9              | 9                  | 20             | 13                    | 8         |
| %1 Strongly disagree                  | 10            | 8             | 11                              | 2              | 10                 | 9              | 6                     | 11        |
| The policies and rh                   | etoric of the | Trump admini  | stration have ı                 | made it more   | difficult to re    | cruit internat | ional student         | S.        |
| %5 Strongly agree                     | 52            | 56            | 48                              | 60             | 63                 | 53             | 59                    | 47        |
| %4                                    | 22            | 23            | 22                              | 27             | 24                 | 21             | 20                    | 20        |
| %3                                    | 17            | 9             | 23                              | 9              | 7                  | 10             | 16                    | 23        |
| %2                                    | 4             | 5             | 3                               | 4              | 2                  | 7              | 2                     | 4         |
| %1 Strongly disagree                  | 6             | 7             | 5                               | 0              | 5                  | 9              | 3                     | 7         |

# INTERNATIONAL STUDENTS AND PATHWAYS PROGRAMS (cont.)

|                      | All Ins        | titutions by    | Sector               |                | Public             |               | Private N             | lonprofit  |
|----------------------|----------------|-----------------|----------------------|----------------|--------------------|---------------|-----------------------|------------|
|                      | All            | Public          | Private<br>Nonprofit | Doctoral       | Master's/<br>Bacc. | Assoc.        | Doctoral/<br>Master's | Bacc.      |
| Pathways progra      | ms will becom  | ne more impor   | tant to U.S. hi      | gher education | n in the curre     | nt environme  | ent.                  |            |
| %5 Strongly agree    | 21             | 21              | 19                   | 22             | 28                 | 19            | 19                    | 20         |
| %4                   | 36             | 40              | 35                   | 33             | 46                 | 39            | 41                    | 36         |
| %3                   | 31             | 28              | 33                   | 24             | 21                 | 32            | 33                    | 36         |
| %2                   | 6              | 7               | 4                    | 10             | 3                  | 8             | 2                     | 1          |
| %1 Strongly disagree | 6              | 4               | 9                    | 12             | 2                  | 2             | 6                     | 8          |
| My college will ne   | ed to increase | e scholarships  | s to internation     | nal students t | o maintain er      | rollment leve | els                   |            |
| %5 Strongly agree    | 22             | 16              | 25                   | 26             | 17                 | 12            | 29                    | 23         |
| %4                   | 20             | 19              | 22                   | 24             | 32                 | 7             | 17                    | 30         |
| %3                   | 21             | 19              | 22                   | 28             | 31                 | 8             | 31                    | 14         |
| %2                   | 18             | 17              | 16                   | 12             | 10                 | 25            | 9                     | 19         |
| %1 Strongly disagree | 19             | 28              | 15                   | 10             | 9                  | 48            | 15                    | 14         |
| The current challe   | eneges in inte | rnational recru | uitment make         | me more ope    | n to using co      | mmission-pa   | id agents in r        | ecruiting. |
| %5 Strongly agree    | 18             | 14              | 20                   | 14             | 27                 | 7             | 24                    | 19         |
| %4                   | 21             | 18              | 24                   | 19             | 31                 | 12            | 27                    | 27         |
| %3                   | 16             | 18              | 15                   | 26             | 21                 | 16            | 15                    | 17         |
| %2                   | 10             | 12              | 9                    | 14             | 8                  | 14            | 11                    | 10         |
| %1 Strongly disagree | 34             | 38              | 32                   | 28             | 14                 | 52            | 24                    | 27         |

34

### **INTERNATIONAL STUDENTS AND PATHWAYS PROGRAMS (cont.)**

About 3 in 10 admissions directors say their college currently has a pathways program, similar to what has been measured in surveys since 2014. The incidence of pathways programs is typically highest at public doctoral institutions.

Twenty-three percent of admissions directors at institutions lacking such a program (equivalent to 16 percent of all admissions directors) say their college is considering implementing a pathways program.

As you may know, pathways programs for international students — often run by an outside provider or a sep arate office within an institution — are a combination of academic coursework and English-language coursework designed to prepare international students for degree programs in the United States.

|   | All Institutions by Sector |        |         | Public   |                    |        | Private               |       |
|---|----------------------------|--------|---------|----------|--------------------|--------|-----------------------|-------|
|   | All                        | Public | Private | Doctoral | Master's/<br>Bacc. | Assoc. | Doctoral/<br>Master's | Bacc. |
| Does your institution currently have a pathways program?                  |                            |        |         |          |                    |        |                       |       |
| % Yes   | 29                         | 33     | 24      | 65       | 36                 | 26     | 23                    | 26    |
| % No  | 71                         | 67     | 76      | 35       | 64                 | 74     | 77                    | 74    |
| Are you considering implementing a pathways program at your institution?* |                            |        |         |          |                    |        |                       |       |
| % Yes   | 23                         | 26     | 20      | n/a      | 33                 | 25     | 32                    | 10    |
| % No  | 77                         | 74     | 80      | n/a      | 67                 | 75     | 68                    | 90    |

<sup>\*</sup>Asked of those who indicated their institution does not have a pathways program (n=244)

n/a=Not reported due to small sample size

### **COMPETITIVE ADMISSIONS AT PUBLIC UNIVERSITIES**

Increased out-of-state and international admissions are two factors making it harder for qualified students, including in-state students, to get into some of the top public universities in the country. Fifty-three percent of admissions directors strongly agree or agree that they are worried about the trend toward some public universities becoming as competitive in admissions as elite private institutions; 25 percent strongly disagree or disagree. Public doctoral university admissions directors are more likely to disagree (49 percent) than to agree (37 percent) they are worried about this trend.

As seen on the following page, a majority of admissions directors, 58 percent, strongly agree or agree that the increased competitiveness of public universities threatens to impede efforts to admit diverse student bodies. Seventeen percent strongly disagree or disagree.

When asked to evaluate two possible approaches to ensure greater access to public universities, admissions directors take a favorable view of guaranteeing admissions to students who complete certain requirements at community colleges, but are divided about greatly reducing out-of-state admissions at colleges that reject many qualified in-state applicants.

Fifty-seven percent strongly agree or agree, and 19 percent strongly disagree or disagree, that public flagship universities that turn away many qualified applicants should guarantee admissions to students who meet certain requirements at community colleges. Admissions directors at public associate colleges are especially supportive of this proposal, with 79 percent voicing agreement.

Meanwhile, 32 percent of admissions directors strongly agree or agree and 38 percent strongly disagree or disagree that public flagships turning away many qualified in-state residents should reduce out-of-state admissions to below 10 percent. Public doctoral college admissions directors are more than three times as likely to disagree (60 percent) than to agree (17 percent) with that proposal.

### **COMPETITIVE ADMISSIONS AT PUBLIC UNIVERSITIES (cont.)**

In recent years, admissions to public universities — especially but not exclusively to state flagships — has become much more competitive. In California and other states, students with top grades and test scores report being rejected by top public universities in their state that a few years ago would have admitted such applicants.

Using a five-point scale, where 5 means strongly agree and 1 means strongly disagree, please indicate your level of agreement with the following statements.

|                                      | All Ins  | titutions by   | Sector           |                | Public             |               | Private               |               |  |  |
|--------------------------------------|--|----------------|------------------|----------------|--------------------|---------------|-----------------------|---------------|--|--|
|                                      | All  | Public         | Private          | Doctoral       | Master's/<br>Bacc. | Assoc.        | Doctoral/<br>Master's | Bacc.         |  |  |
| I worry about the                    | I worry about the trend of some public universities becoming as competitive in admissions as elite private institutions. |                |                  |                |                    |               |                       |               |  |  |
| %5 Strongly agree                    | 22   | 23             | 21               | 12             | 17                 | 27            | 26                    | 16            |  |  |
| %4                                   | 31   | 32             | 31               | 25             | 31                 | 34            | 33                    | 28            |  |  |
| %3                                   | 22   | 23             | 20               | 14             | 27                 | 24            | 19                    | 27            |  |  |
| %2                                   | 16   | 13             | 18               | 28             | 13                 | 11            | 13                    | 21            |  |  |
| %1 Strongly disagree                 | 9  | 9              | 9                | 21             | 12                 | 5             | 10                    | 8             |  |  |
| The increased co                     | mpetitiveness  | of public univ | ersities threate | ens efforts to | admit diverse      | e student bo  | dies at those i       | institutions. |  |  |
| %5 Strongly agree                    | 27   | 25             | 30               | 16             | 22                 | 28            | 30                    | 29            |  |  |
| %4                                   | 31   | 33             | 30               | 32             | 45                 | 30            | 40                    | 25            |  |  |
| %3                                   | 25   | 26             | 25               | 24             | 16                 | 31            | 18                    | 28            |  |  |
| %2                                   | 12   | 9              | 14               | 12             | 8                  | 8             | 7                     | 16            |  |  |
| %1 Strongly disagree                 | 5  | 7              | 2                | 16             | 8                  | 3             | 5                     | 1             |  |  |
| Public flagships t<br>ments at commu |  |                |                  | ould guarante  | ee admission       | to students v | who meet cert         | ain require-  |  |  |
| %5 Strongly agree                    | 31   | 45             | 17               | 22             | 28                 | 55            | 14                    | 21            |  |  |
| %4                                   | 26   | 24             | 29               | 24             | 27                 | 24            | 42                    | 18            |  |  |
| %3                                   | 24   | 21             | 27               | 33             | 27                 | 16            | 25                    | 32            |  |  |
| %2                                   | 11   | 5              | 16               | 9              | 8                  | 3             | 12                    | 20            |  |  |
| %1 Strongly disagree                 | 8  | 6              | 11               | 13             | 10                 | 1             | 8                     | 10            |  |  |
| Public flagships t<br>below 10%.     | hat are turning  | g away many d  | ıualified in-sta | te residents   | should bring o     | out-of-state  | admissions d          | own to        |  |  |
| %5 Strongly agree                    | 15   | 17             | 12               | 6              | 16                 | 20            | 19                    | 9             |  |  |
| %4                                   | 17   | 17             | 18               | 11             | 16                 | 20            | 29                    | 16            |  |  |
| %3                                   | 29   | 29             | 29               | 23             | 23                 | 35            | 23                    | 41            |  |  |
| %2                                   | 19   | 13             | 24               | 13             | 16                 | 12            | 14                    | 24            |  |  |
| %1 Strongly disagree                 | 19   | 23             | 16               | 47             | 29                 | 13            | 16                    | 11            |  |  |

### **WAITING LISTS**

Waiting lists offer colleges a chance to fill their classes if substantial numbers of accepted students decline to enroll — and offer applicants a chance to attend the college if a spot opens up. There are concerns that waiting lists, from which relatively few applicants gain admission, give false hope to applicants. Some news reports suggest waiting lists are growing increasingly long at colleges.

Six in 10 admissions directors strongly agree or agree that college waiting lists have grown too long, with 18 percent disagreeing.

Not all colleges use waiting lists, and when asked about their college's waiting list practices, between 38 and 52 percent of admissions directors said the questions did not apply to them or gave no opinion. Fifteen percent of admissions directors responding to the waiting list questions say the size of their waiting list in the most recent academic year exceeded more than 20 percent of the number of admitted applicants, with private institutions tending to have longer waiting lists than public institutions. For most institutions, 84 percent, the waiting list totals 20 percent or less of the number of admitted applicants.

Admissions directors generally confirm that wait-listed students rarely gain admission. Indeed, 15 percent of admissions directors who answered the question say their college has not admitted any wait-listed applicants in recent years. Most of the rest, 68 percent, say less than 5 percent of wait-listed applicants were eventually admitted.

Many applicants and counselors report that greater numbers of applicants than in the past re being placed on admissions waiting lists at a wide range of higher education institutions. Some colleges place more students on waiting lists than the total number of students they enroll in a first-year class.

|   | All Ins        | titutions by     | Sector               |               | Public                  |        |                       | Private Nonprofit |  |
|---|----------------|------------------|----------------------|---------------|-------------------------|--------|-----------------------|-------------------|--|
|   | All            | Public           | Private<br>Nonprofit | Doctoral      | Mas-<br>ter's/<br>Bacc. | Assoc. | Doctoral/<br>Master's | Bacc.             |  |
| In the most recer   | nt admissions  | year, my institu | ution's waiting      | list equaled: |                         |        |                       |                   |  |
| 0% to 20% of the<br>number of admitted<br>applicants                    | 84             | 95               | 79                   | 85            | 94                      | n/a    | 72                    | 81                |  |
| 21% to 50% of the<br>number of admitted<br>applicants                   | 8              | 4                | 11                   | 12            | 6                       | n/a    | 16                    | 6                 |  |
| More than 50% of<br>the number of ad-<br>mitted applicants              | 7              | 1                | 10                   | 3             | 0                       | n/a    | 12                    | 14                |  |
| In recent years, m  | ny college has | admitted from    | the waiting lis      | st:           |                         |        |                       |                   |  |
| No students   | 15             | 18               | 13                   | n/a           | n/a                     | n/a    | 8                     | 24                |  |
| More than 0% but<br>less than 5% of my<br>college's first-year<br>class | 68             | 65               | 70                   | n/a           | n/a                     | n/a    | 87                    | 55                |  |
| More than 5% of my<br>college's first-year<br>class                     | 17             | 17               | 17                   | n/a           | n/a                     | n/a    | 5                     | 21                |  |

n/a=Not reported due to small sample size

# **WAITING LISTS (cont.)**

Admissions directors who employ waiting lists largely dismiss the idea that their college uses these lists partly to avoid rejecting strong applicants as well as those with connections to the college. As seen on the following page, 54 percent strongly disagree or disagree and 32 percent strongly agree or agree that their college uses waiting lists to avoid rejecting strong applicants. More than three-quarters, 77 percent, strongly disagree or disagree their college uses waiting lists to avoid rejecting applicants with connections to the college; 15 percent strongly agree or agree their institution does so.

|                      | Please           | indicate you               | r level of agre      | eement with   | the followin       | g statemen  | ts.                   |           |
|----------------------|------------------|----------------------------|----------------------|---------------|--------------------|-------------|-----------------------|-----------|
|                      | All Ins          | All Institutions by Sector |                      |               | Public             |             | Private N             | lonprofit |
|                      | All              | Public                     | Private<br>Nonprofit | Doctoral      | Master's/<br>Bacc. | Assoc.      | Doctoral/<br>Master's | Bacc.     |
| College waiting lis  | sts have grow    | n too long.                |                      |               |                    |             |                       |           |
| %5 Strongly agree    | 32               | 30                         | 34                   | 27            | 31                 | 32          | 27                    | 32        |
| %4                   | 29               | 32                         | 25                   | 24            | 29                 | 36          | 27                    | 31        |
| %3                   | 21               | 25                         | 20                   | 30            | 20                 | 25          | 26                    | 16        |
| %2                   | 13               | 10                         | 15                   | 13            | 15                 | 7           | 13                    | 13        |
| %1 Strongly disagree | 5                | 3                          | 6                    | 5             | 4                  | 0           | 8                     | 8         |
| My college uses v    | vaiting lists in | part to avoid              | rejecting stror      | ng applicants |                    |             |                       |           |
| %5 Strongly agree    | 10               | 18                         | 8                    | 7             | 14                 | n/a         | 14                    | 6         |
| %4                   | 22               | 23                         | 22                   | 14            | 15                 | n/a         | 21                    | 12        |
| %3                   | 14               | 14                         | 15                   | 18            | 11                 | n/a         | 17                    | 13        |
| %2                   | 13               | 13                         | 14                   | 25            | 11                 | n/a         | 8                     | 14        |
| %1 Strongly disagree | 41               | 33                         | 42                   | 36            | 50                 | n/a         | 40                    | 55        |
| My college uses v    | vaiting lists to | avoid rejectir             | ng applicants v      | who have cor  | nections to th     | ne college. |                       |           |
| %5 Strongly agree    | 6                | 14                         | 3                    | 11            | 4                  | n/a         | 5                     | 5         |
| %4                   | 9                | 5                          | 10                   | 7             | 6                  | n/a         | 8                     | 11        |
| %3                   | 9                | 6                          | 10                   | 7             | 10                 | n/a         | 17                    | 12        |
| %2                   | 21               | 16                         | 23                   | 28            | 22                 | n/a         | 10                    | 20        |
| %1 Strongly disagree | 56               | 59                         | 54                   | 48            | 58                 | n/a         | 61                    | 53        |

### **IMAGE OF HIGHER EDUCATION**

Admissions directors continue to harbor concerns about the image of higher education, and these concerns do not appear to be subsiding.

Two-thirds of admissions directors (66 percent) agree that media reports of underemployed or unemployed college graduates have discouraged students from considering higher education. The same percentage of directors agree that public discussion of student debt also discourages prospective students. Both percentages are essentially unchanged from a year ago.

Slightly fewer admissions directors, but still a majority (58 percent), say public discussion of student debt discourages students from considering their college. These attitudes are also unchanged from a year ago, but more hold this view than did so in 2016 (47 percent). Private college admissions directors (78 percent) are more than twice as likely as public college admissions directors (32 percent) to agree that student debt discussion is discouraging students from considering their college.

Fewer admissions directors than in the past strongly agree or agree that students and parents of prospective students understand the value of a liberal arts education. Just 7 percent agree that parents understand the value and 5 percent say students do. Two years ago, 15 percent thought parents understood the value of a liberal arts education and 12 percent thought students did.

Admissions directors are most likely to agree that higher education needs to do a better job of explaining the value of earning college degrees. Eighty-seven percent agree with this statement. Agreement is down from 95 percent last year, but the same as in 2016. A majority of admissions directors strongly agree that higher education needs to better explain the value of earning a degree.

40

# **IMAGE OF HIGHER EDUCATION (cont.)**

Using a five-point scale, where 5 means strongly agree and 1 means strongly disagree, please indicate your level of agreement with the following statements about higher education.

|                                      |                | titutions by    | Sector               |               | Public             |             | Private N             | onprofit |
|--------------------------------------|----------------|-----------------|----------------------|---------------|--------------------|-------------|-----------------------|----------|
|                                      | All            | Public          | Private<br>Nonprofit | Doctoral      | Master's/<br>Bacc. | Assoc.      | Doctoral/<br>Master's | Bacc.    |
| Higher education r                   | needs to do a  | better job of e | explaining the       | value of earn | ing college de     | grees.      |                       |          |
| %5 Strongly agree                    | 56             | 52              | 60                   | 50            | 60                 | 49          | 64                    | 59       |
| %4                                   | 31             | 35              | 29                   | 44            | 30                 | 35          | 29                    | 30       |
| %3                                   | 11             | 12              | 10                   | 6             | 8                  | 14          | 5                     | 11       |
| %2                                   | 1              | 1               | 1                    | 0             | 0                  | 2           | 2                     | 0        |
| %1 Strongly disagree                 | <1             | <1              | 0                    | 0             | 2                  | 0           | 0                     | 0        |
| Media reports of c higher education. | ollege gradua  | ites who are u  | nemployed or         | underemploy   | ed have disco      | uraged stud | lents from cor        | sidering |
| %5 Strongly agree                    | 29             | 25              | 32                   | 13            | 21                 | 28          | 36                    | 27       |
| %4                                   | 37             | 37              | 38                   | 35            | 45                 | 36          | 34                    | 47       |
| %3                                   | 23             | 25              | 22                   | 39            | 19                 | 24          | 19                    | 17       |
| %2                                   | 9              | 11              | 7                    | 13            | 12                 | 11          | 7                     | 8        |
| %1 Strongly disagree                 | 2              | 1               | 2                    | 0             | 3                  | 1           | 3                     | 1        |
| Public discussion                    | of student de  | bt has discou   | raged students       | from consid   | lering higher e    | ducation ge | nerally.              |          |
| %5 Strongly agree                    | 32             | 28              | 34                   | 19            | 25                 | 32          | 34                    | 39       |
| %4                                   | 34             | 34              | 35                   | 40            | 34                 | 33          | 33                    | 35       |
| %3                                   | 23             | 24              | 24                   | 30            | 23                 | 23          | 27                    | 20       |
| %2                                   | 7              | 10              | 5                    | 6             | 17                 | 9           | 6                     | 2        |
| %1 Strongly disagree                 | 3              | 3               | 2                    | 4             | 1                  | 3           | 1                     | 4        |
| Public discussion                    | of student de  | bt has discou   | raged students       | from consid   | lering my colle    | ege.        |                       |          |
| %5 Strongly agree                    | 28             | 13              | 39                   | 11            | 14                 | 14          | 33                    | 39       |
| %4                                   | 30             | 19              | 39                   | 23            | 27                 | 16          | 41                    | 40       |
| %3                                   | 20             | 31              | 11                   | 36            | 30                 | 31          | 16                    | 7        |
| %2                                   | 17             | 26              | 10                   | 23            | 23                 | 28          | 9                     | 12       |
| %1 Strongly disagree                 | 6              | 10              | 2                    | 6             | 7                  | 11          | 2                     | 2        |
| Parents of prospec                   | ctive students | understand t    | he value of a li     | beral arts ed | ucation.           |             |                       |          |
| %5 Strongly agree                    | 2              | 3               | 1                    | 0             | 2                  | 4           | 1                     | 1        |
| %4                                   | 5              | 8               | 3                    | 7             | 8                  | 8           | 5                     | 3        |
| %3                                   | 30             | 30              | 29                   | 33            | 29                 | 31          | 26                    | 27       |
| %2                                   | 42             | 36              | 47                   | 39            | 36                 | 37          | 45                    | 45       |
| %1 Strongly disagree                 | 21             | 23              | 20                   | 22            | 26                 | 22          | 22                    | 24       |
| Prospective stude                    | nts understar  | nd the value of | a liberal arts e     | education.    |                    |             |                       |          |
| %5 Strongly agree                    | 1              | 0               | 1                    | 2             | 0                  | 0           | 2                     | 1        |
| %4                                   | 4              | 6               | 4                    | 2             | 6                  | 6           | 7                     | 2        |
| %3                                   | 26             | 32              | 21                   | 29            | 27                 | 34          | 26                    | 19       |
| %2                                   | 42             | 38              | 46                   | 44            | 34                 | 39          | 39                    | 41       |
| %1 Strongly disagree                 | 26             | 24              | 28                   | 23            | 32                 | 22          | 26                    | 37       |

#### **IMPLICATIONS OF THE 2016 PRESIDENTIAL ELECTION FOR ADMISSIONS**

The last admissions cycle saw some colleges rethink their recruiting strategies in response to Donald Trump's unexpected victory in the 2016 presidential election. Among the issues the election raised are whether certain segments of the population are being overlooked and whether Americans as a whole are committed to the same ideals that academe is.

Admissions directors are more inclined to agree (38 percent) than to disagree (26 percent) that colleges should recruit more students from rural areas. They are divided as to whether colleges should recruit more low-income white students (35 percent agree and 36 percent disagree they should). They tend to oppose the idea that colleges with overwhelmingly liberal student bodies should recruit more politically conservative students, including through the use of affirmative action (22 percent agree they should, 47 percent disagree). Public college admissions directors are more open than private college admissions directors to making efforts to recruit members of these subgroups.

Thirty-nine percent of admissions directors strongly agree or agree and 33 percent strongly disagree or disagree that the election outcome indicated Americans are less committed to racial diversity than in the past. They think colleges need to redouble their efforts to recruit and retain students from underrepresented groups — 73 percent agree with this idea, 44 percent strongly so.

In the last admissions cycle, some colleges announced new recruitment goals to address concerns that higher education was out of touch with certain segments of society in light of the results of the 2016 presidential election.

Using a five-point scale, where 5 means strongly agree and 1 means strongly disagree, please indicate your level of agreement with the following statements.

|  | All Ins       | titutions by    | Sector               |               | Public                  |               | Private Nonprofit     |            |
|--|---------------|-----------------|----------------------|---------------|-------------------------|---------------|-----------------------|------------|
|  | All           | Public          | Private<br>Nonprofit | Doctoral      | Mas-<br>ter's/<br>Bacc. | Assoc.        | Doctoral/<br>Master's | Bacc.      |
| The election outcome indicated that colleges — especially el |               |                 |                      | lite colleges | – should rec            | ruit more stu | dents from ru         | ral areas. |
| %5 Strongly agree  | 17            | 19              | 15                   | 18            | 14                      | 21            | 19                    | 13         |
| %4   | 21            | 22              | 20                   | 18            | 35                      | 17            | 13                    | 27         |
| %3   | 36            | 37              | 35                   | 42            | 28                      | 40            | 31                    | 32         |
| %2   | 15            | 9               | 20                   | 8             | 14                      | 7             | 25                    | 19         |
| %1 Strongly disagree   | 11            | 13              | 10                   | 13            | 10                      | 14            | 12                    | 8          |
| The election outc  | ome indicated | I that colleges | – especially e       | lite colleges | – should rec            | ruit more lov | ver-inncome v         | vhite stu- |
| %5 Strongly agree  | 13            | 13              | 13                   | 11            | 11                      | 15            | 13                    | 14         |
| %4   | 22            | 31              | 14                   | 26            | 29                      | 33            | 12                    | 21         |
| %3   | 30            | 29              | 30                   | 32            | 28                      | 27            | 31                    | 32         |
| %2   | 21            | 13              | 26                   | 13            | 16                      | 12            | 26                    | 21         |
| %1 Strongly disagree   | 15            | 14              | 16                   | 18            | 15                      | 13            | 18                    | 13         |

### IMPLICATIONS OF THE 2016 PRESIDENTIAL ELECTION FOR ADMISSIONS (cont.)

|   | All Ins       | titutions by     | Sector               |              | Public                  |               | Private Nonprofit     |             |
|---|---------------|------------------|----------------------|--------------|-------------------------|---------------|-----------------------|-------------|
|   | All           | Public           | Private<br>Nonprofit | Doctoral     | Mas-<br>ter's/<br>Bacc. | Assoc.        | Doctoral/<br>Master's | Bacc.       |
| Colleges with overwhelmingly libral student bodies should increase recruiting efforts, including using affirmative action, for conservative students. |               |                  |                      |              |                         |               |                       |             |
| %5 Strongly agree   | 7             | 7                | 7                    | 6            | 4                       | 8             | 9                     | 8           |
| %4  | 15            | 19               | 12                   | 8            | 15                      | 24            | 12                    | 8           |
| %3  | 31            | 30               | 32                   | 36           | 23                      | 30            | 24                    | 42          |
| %2  | 19            | 13               | 23                   | 19           | 14                      | 12            | 24                    | 24          |
| %1 Strongly disagree  | 28            | 31               | 25                   | 31           | 45                      | 26            | 30                    | 18          |
| The election outcoracial and ethnic i   |               |                  |                      | mmitted tha  | n they were i           | n the past to | increasing th         | e number of |
| %5 Strongly agree   | 16            | 16               | 16                   | 17           | 18                      | 15            | 21                    | 19          |
| %4  | 23            | 24               | 21                   | 15           | 18                      | 28            | 34                    | 13          |
| %3  | 29            | 30               | 28                   | 34           | 34                      | 29            | 19                    | 35          |
| %2  | 18            | 12               | 22                   | 17           | 17                      | 9             | 13                    | 20          |
| %1 Strongly disagree  | 15            | 17               | 12                   | 17           | 13                      | 18            | 13                    | 13          |
| Higher education  | needs to redo | uble its efforts | to recruit and       | retain stude | nts from und            | lerrepresente | d minority gro        | oups.       |
| %5 Strongly agree   | 44            | 43               | 46                   | 43           | 42                      | 42            | 47                    | 44          |
| %4  | 29            | 35               | 25                   | 32           | 34                      | 36            | 32                    | 22          |
| %3  | 21            | 17               | 24                   | 19           | 20                      | 15            | 17                    | 31          |
| %2  | 3             | 2                | 4                    | 4            | 3                       | 2             | 4                     | 2           |
| %1 Strongly disagree  | 3             | 3                | 1                    | 2            | 1                       | 4             | 0                     | 2           |

### STUDENT DEBT

The vast majority of admissions directors, 83 percent, believe their institution is losing potential applicants due to concerns about accumulating student loan debt. More than 9 in 10 private college admissions directors believe debt concerns are discouraging applicants from applying, compared with 68 percent of public college admissions directors.

Average student loan debt for college graduates now exceeds \$30,000. Three-quarters of admissions directors believe debt below that level is a reasonable amount for students to accumulate, with most regarding a debt of \$10,000 to less than \$20,000 (21 percent) or \$20,000 to less than \$30,000 (38 percent) as appropriate. The percentage of admissions directors who believe student debt of \$30,000 or more is reasonable has been stable at near 25 percent in recent years.

As has been the case in prior surveys, private college admissions directors' opinions about reasonable debt differ from those of directors at public colleges. Private college admissions directors (36 percent) are three times more likely than public college admissions directors (12 percent) to say student debt of \$30,000 or more is reasonable.

|  | All Ins   | titutions by | Sector               |               | Public             |              | Private Nonprofit     |         |  |
|--|---|--------------|----------------------|---------------|--------------------|--------------|-----------------------|---------|--|
|  | All   | Public       | Private<br>Nonprofit | Doctoral      | Master's/<br>Bacc. | Assoc.       | Doctoral/<br>Master's | Bacc.   |  |
| Do you think that                      | Do you think that your institution is losing potential applicants due to concerns about accumulating student loan debt? |              |                      |               |                    |              |                       |         |  |
| % Yes                                  | 83  | 68           | 94                   | 78            | 77                 | 64           | 93                    | 96      |  |
| % No                                   | 17  | 32           | 6                    | 22            | 23                 | 36           | 7                     | 4       |  |
| In your opinion, wo                    |   | nable amount | of load debt f       | rom all sourc | es for an und      | ergraduate s | tudent to acci        | umulate |  |
| % No amount of loan debt is reasonable | 2   | 3            | 1                    | 4             | 2                  | 4            | 0                     | 1       |  |
| % Under \$5,000                        | 4   | 8            | 0                    | 0             | 3                  | 11           | 1                     | 0       |  |
| % \$5,000 to less<br>than \$10,000     | 9   | 19           | 2                    | 2             | 11                 | 25           | 1                     | 3       |  |
| % \$10,000 to less<br>than \$20,000    | 21  | 25           | 20                   | 31            | 23                 | 25           | 21                    | 19      |  |
| % \$20,000 to less<br>than \$30,000    | 38  | 33           | 43                   | 46            | 50                 | 24           | 46                    | 44      |  |
| % \$30,000 to less<br>than \$40,000    | 14  | 7            | 19                   | 13            | 10                 | 5            | 16                    | 25      |  |
| % \$40,000 to less<br>than \$50,000    | 8   | 4            | 12                   | 4             | 3                  | 4            | 14                    | 3       |  |
| % \$50,000 or more                     | 3   | 1            | 5                    | 0             | 0                  | 2            | 1                     | 5       |  |

#### MARKETING STRATEGY AND INSTITUTIONAL ORGANIZATION

When evaluating three key elements of their college's outreach to prospective applicants, admissions directors are most positive about their college's CRM (Customer Relationship Management) and least positive about its social media strategy. Seventy percent of admissions directors say they are satisfied with their college's CRM for admissions. Slightly less, 62 percent, are satisfied with their college's marketing strategy for admissions. But only about half, 49 percent, are satisfied with their college's social media strategy.

Private college admissions directors are much more satisfied than public college admissions directors with their college's CRM (80 percent vs. 57 percent, respectively), mostly because of lower satisfaction levels among community college admissions directors. There are modest differences by sector in satisfaction with the institution's marketing strategy, but public and private college admissions directors are equally satisfied with their college's social media strategy.

| Are you satisfied or dissatisfied with each of the following? |   |                |                      |          |                    |        |                       |           |  |
|---|---|----------------|----------------------|----------|--------------------|--------|-----------------------|-----------|--|
|   | All Ins   | titutions by   | Sector               |          | Public             |        | Private N             | lonprofit |  |
|   | All   | Public         | Private<br>Nonprofit | Doctoral | Master's/<br>Bacc. | Assoc. | Doctoral/<br>Master's | Bacc.     |  |
| Your college's CRM for admissions                             |   |                |                      |          |                    |        |                       |           |  |
| % Satisfied   | 70  | 57             | 80                   | 78       | 67                 | 49     | 73                    | 82        |  |
| % Dissatisfied  | 30  | 43             | 20                   | 22       | 33                 | 51     | 27                    | 18        |  |
| Your college's ma   | arketing strate                                     | egy for admiss | sions                |          |                    |        |                       |           |  |
| % Satisfied   | 62  | 56             | 68                   | 69       | 59                 | 52     | 70                    | 69        |  |
| % Dissatisfied  | 38  | 44             | 32                   | 31       | 41                 | 48     | 30                    | 31        |  |
| Your college's so   | Your college's social media strategy for admissions |                |                      |          |                    |        |                       |           |  |
| % Satisfied   | 49  | 48             | 50                   | 59       | 52                 | 45     | 60                    | 43        |  |
| % Dissatisfied  | 51  | 52             | 50                   | 41       | 48                 | 55     | 40                    | 57        |  |

When asked to describe how their college is organized, 66 percent say it is organized as one main college, while 34 percent say their institution is organized into multiple divisions. Those whose institution has multiple divisions are equally likely to say it has one centralized admissions office as to say it has separate offices for each division.

# MARKETING STRATEGY AND INSTITUTIONAL ORGANIZATION (cont.)

|   | All Ins | All Institutions by Sector |                      |          | Public                  |        |                       | Private Nonprofit |  |
|---|---------|----------------------------|----------------------|----------|-------------------------|--------|-----------------------|-------------------|--|
|   | All     | Public                     | Private<br>Nonprofit | Doctoral | Mas-<br>ter's/<br>Bacc. | Assoc. | Doctoral/<br>Master's | Bacc.             |  |
| Which better describes the structure of your institution? Are admissions at your institution centralized in one office or operated seperately for the different divisions?* |         |                            |                      |          |                         |        |                       |                   |  |
| % One main college  | 66      | 72                         | 62                   | 19       | 52                      | 90     | 34                    | 80                |  |
| % Multiple divisions<br>for graduate, under-<br>graduate and pro-<br>fessional programs,<br>with one centralized<br>admissions office                                       | 17      | 14                         | 19                   | 39       | 20                      | 7      | 34                    | 7                 |  |
| % Multiple divisions<br>for graduate,<br>undergraduate and<br>professional pro-<br>grams, with separate<br>admissions offices   | 17      | 14                         | 19                   | 41       | 28                      | 3      | 32                    | 13                |  |

<sup>\*</sup>Asked of those whose institution has multiple divisions

Satisfaction with marketing efforts is generally similar regardless of how the institution is organized.

|   | One main college | Multiple divisions,<br>one centralized<br>admissions office | Multiple divisions, separate admissions offices |
|---|------------------|---|---|
| % Satisfied, CRM for admissions                   | 71               | 65  | 73  |
| % Satisfied, marketing strategy for admissions    | 61               | 66  | 65  |
| % Satisfied, social media strategy for admissions | 47               | 53  | 55  |

### **COMMUNITY COLLEGES**

Community college enrollments continue to decline. Admissions directors at community colleges see several reasons for enrollment struggles at two-year colleges, including competition from other colleges for students, a desire among prospective students to earn four-year degrees, insufficient marketing and concerns about the payoff of a college degree.

When asked whether each of nine possible factors contributes to enrollment struggles at community colleges across the U.S., more than 8 in 10 community college admissions directors say that competition from nonprofit colleges and universities (84 percent) and from for-profit colleges (81 percent) is a factor. Slightly fewer believe students' desire to earn a bachelor's degree (79 percent), insufficient marketing (78 percent), and public discussion that college degrees and certificates do not help students get ahead financially (77 percent) are factors in the recent trends in community college enrollment.

Majorities of community college admissions directors also think student fears of borrowing (67 percent) and reputations for poor degree completion rates (63 percent) are responsible for enrollment struggles at two-year institutions. Smaller percentages believe tuition rates (45 percent) and a lack of desirable programs (44 percent) are contributing to the trend.

# Many community colleges continue to struggle with enrollment. Please indicate whether you think each of the following is or is not a factor in struggles with enrollment at community colleges nationally.\*

|   | % Yes, is a factor |
|---|--------------------|
| Competition from nonprofit colleges and universities  | 84                 |
| Competition from for-profit colleges  | 81                 |
| Prospective students want to go to colleges where they can earn bachelor's degrees                | 79                 |
| Insufficient marketing  | 78                 |
| Public discussion that college degrees and certificates do not help people get ahead economically | 77                 |
| Student fears of borrowing  | 67                 |
| Reputation for poor degree completion rates   | 63                 |
| Tuition rates   | 45                 |
| Lack of desirable programs  | 44                 |

<sup>\*</sup>Asked of admissions directors at public associate colleges (n=67)

Community college admissions directors generally see the same factors contributing to enrollment struggles at their own institution. They are somewhat less likely to say insufficient marketing (71 percent, compared with 78 percent nationally) and reputations for poor degree completion rates (50 percent, compared with 63 percent) contribute to enrollment struggles at their own college.

## **COMMUNITY COLLEGES (cont.)**

# Please indicate whether each of the following is or is not a factor in struggles with enrollment at your community college.\*

|   | % Yes, is a factor |
|---|--------------------|
| Competition from nonprofit colleges and universities  | 87                 |
| Competition from for-profit colleges  | 81                 |
| Public discussion that college degrees and certificates do not help people get ahead economically | 80                 |
| Prospective students want to go to colleges where they can earn bachelor's degrees                | 76                 |
| Insufficient marketing  | 71                 |
| Student fears of borrowing  | 68                 |
| Reputation for poor degree completion rates   | 50                 |
| Tuition rates   | 46                 |
| Lack of desirable programs  | 44                 |

<sup>\*</sup>Asked of admissions directors at public associate colleges (n=67)

Enrollment declines have been especially steep in recent years at for-profit colleges. Community college admissions directors are more inclined to agree (37 percent) than to disagree (26 percent) that their institution has gained some of those who might have gone to a for-profit institution in the past. Thirty-six percent are neutral, giving a response of "3" on the five-point rating scale.

Community colleges have clear opinions about the deregulation of for-profit colleges under the Trump administration. Seventy-eight percent agree they are concerned about this, including 61 percent who strongly agree. Just 13 percent strongly disagree or disagree.

Using a five-point scale, where 5 means strongly agree and 1 means strongly disagree, please indicate your level of agreement with the following statements about for-profit institutions.\*

As many for-profit colleges have seen enrollments drop, my community college has gained some of those who might have gone to a for-profit in the past.

| %4   | 32 |  |
|--|----|--|
| %3   | 36 |  |
| %2   | 17 |  |
| %1 Strongly disagree   | 9  |  |
| I am concerned about decreased regulation of for-profits under the Trump administration. |    |  |
| %5 Strongly agree  | 61 |  |
| %4   | 17 |  |
| %3   | 9  |  |
| %2   | 4  |  |
| %1 Strongly disagree   | 9  |  |

<sup>\*</sup>Asked of admissions directors at public associate colleges (n=67)

%5 Strongly agree

### **COMMUNITY COLLEGES (cont.)**

For some students, an associate degree is the ultimate goal. But many other community college students plan to continue their education at a four-year institution. Nearly 9 in 10 community college admissions directors agree that prospective students at their college are interested in opportunities to transfer to four-year institutions, including 69 percent who strongly agree.

Admissions directors at two-year colleges are most positive about prospective transfer programs at public colleges and least positive about those at for-profit colleges. Eighty-six percent of community college admissions directors agree -53 percent strongly— that local public institutions have good programs to encourage community college students to transfer. Six in 10 strongly agree or agree that local private institutions have good programs, but only 24 percent say the same about for-profit colleges. In fact, a majority strongly disagree or disagree that local for-profit colleges have good programs to encourage community college students to transfer.

| Using a five-point scale, where 5 means strongly agree and 1 means strongly disagree, please indicate your level of agreement with the following statements about transfer students.* |                               |  |
|---|-------------------------------|--|
| Many prospective students at my community college are interested in opportunities to transfer to four-year institutions.  |                               |  |
| %5 Strongly agree   | 69                            |  |
| %4  | 22                            |  |
| %3  | 9                             |  |
| %2  | 0                             |  |
| %1 Strongly disagree  | 0                             |  |
| Public institutions in my area have good programs to encourage community college students to transfer.  |                               |  |
| %5 Strongly agree   | 53                            |  |
| %4  | 33                            |  |
| %3  | 14                            |  |
| %2  | 0                             |  |
| %1 Strongly disagree  | 0                             |  |
| Private institutions in my area have good programs to encourage community college students to transfer.   |                               |  |
| %5 Strongly agree   | 28                            |  |
| %4  | 34                            |  |
| %3  | 29                            |  |
| %2  | 4                             |  |
| %1 Strongly disagree  | 6                             |  |
| For profit institutions in my area have good programs to encourage community  | college students to transfer. |  |
| %5 Strongly agree   | 10                            |  |
| %4  | 14                            |  |
| %3  | 24                            |  |
| %2  | 20                            |  |
| %1 Strongly disagree  | 32                            |  |

<sup>\*</sup>Asked of admissions directors at public associate colleges (n=67)

# **INSTITUTION AND PERSONAL DEMOGRAPHICS**

| What is your age? | Overall % |
|-------------------|-----------|
| Younger than 30   | 1         |
| 30 to 39          | 24        |
| 40 to 49          | 37        |
| 50 to 59          | 23        |
| 60 to 69          | 14        |
| 70 and older      | <1        |

| WHAT PROPORTION OF THE APPLICANTS FOR FULL-<br>TIME UNDERGRADUATE ADMISSIONS DO YOU TYPI-<br>CALLY ADMIT TO YOUR COLLEGE OR UNIVERSITY? | Overall % |
|---|-----------|
| Less than 20%   | 7         |
| 20% to less than 50%  | 14        |
| 50% or more   | 79        |

50

#### **ABOUT INSIDE HIGHER ED**

Founded in 2004, *Inside Higher Ed* is the online source for news, opinion and jobs for all of higher education. *Inside Higher Ed* provides what higher education professionals need to thrive in their jobs or to find better ones: Breaking News and feature stories, provocative daily commentary, comment sections on every article, practical career columns and a powerful suite of tools that keep academic professionals informed about employment opportunities and that help college identify and hire talented personnel.

For more information, visit www.insidehighered.com.

#### **ABOUT GALLUP**

Gallup provides analytics and advice to help leaders and organizations solve their most pressing problems. Combining more than 80 years of expereince with its global reach, Gallup knows more about the attitudes and behaviors of employees, customers, students and citizens than any other organization in the world. Gallup works with leaders and organizations to achive breakthroughs in customer engagement, employee engagement, organizational culture and identity, leadership development, talent-based assessments, entrepreneurship and wellbeing. Gallup's 2,000 professionals include noted scientists, renowned subject-matter experts and bestselling authors who work in a range of industries, including banking, finance, healthcare, consumer goods, automotive, real estate, hospitality, education, government and business-to-business.

For more information, visit www.gallup.com nor www.gallup.com/services/170939/higher-education.aspx.